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COUNSEL.:

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that, on a date to be set at the November 9, 2023 Case
Management Conference (see June 7, 2023 Case Management Order, 4), Defendant American
Petroleum Institute (“API”), through the undersigned counsel, will move pursuant to R. 4:6-2(e)
and the other legal authorities cited in the brief submitted with this motion, and for the reasons
stated in API’s and other Defendants’ Joint Motion to Dismiss, which API adopts and incorporates,
and which will be filed this same date, before the Honorable Anthony V. D’Elia, J.S.C., Superior
Court of New Jersey, William J. Brennan Courthouse, 583 Newark Ave, 2" Floor, Jersey City, NJ
07306, for an Order dismissing this lawsuit as to API with prejudice and granting such other and
further relief as the Court deems just.

In support of this application, API shall rely upon the accompanying Brief, Certification of
Anthony J. Zarillo, Jr., and the documents attached to and referenced in those submissions, as well
as the Brief, Certification of Herbert J. Stern, Esg., and the documents attached to and referenced
in those submissions in support of API’s and other Defendants’ Joint Motion to Dismiss.

A proposed form of Order is enclosed.

The current discovery end date is June 30, 2024.

RIKER DANZIG LLP

By:

Anthony J. Zarillo, Jr.
Jeffrey M. Beyer

Jeremiah J. Anderson (admitted pro hac vice)
MCGUIREWOODS LLP

845 Texas Avenue, 24th Floor

Houston, TX 77002-2906

(713) 571-9191
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MCGUIREWOODS LLP

800 East Canal Street
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Attorneys for Defendant American Petroleum
Institute

Dated: July 7, 2023

CcC: All Other Counsel of Record
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[PROPOSED] ORDER DISMISSING
THIS ACTION AS TO AMERICAN
PETROLEUM INSTITUTE WITH
PREJUDICE FOR FAILURE TO
STATE A CLAIM

THIS MATTER having been brought before the Court by Defendant American Petroleum

Institute (“API”), through their counsel, by way of a Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim,

and granting such other and further relief as the Court deems just (the “API Motion to Dismiss™),
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and the Court having considered all papers submitted in support of thereof and in opposition
thereto, and for good cause shown;

IT IS, on this day of , 2023, ORDERED that:

1. The API Motion to Dismiss is GRANTED.

2. This action is hereby dismissed as to API with prejudice.

Hon. Anthony V. D’Elia, J.S.C.
Opposed

Unopposed

5427860v1
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CERTIFICATION OF
ANTHONY J. ZARILLO, JR. IN
SUPPORT OF AMERICAN
PETROLEUM INSTITUTE’S
MOTION TO DISMISS

I, Anthony J. Zarillo, Jr., Esq., being of full age, certify as follows:

1. I am an attorney at law in the State of New Jersey and a partner with the law firm

of Riker Danzig, LLP, attorneys for the defendant American Petroleum Institute (“API”), in the

5427709v1
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above-captioned matter. | am fully familiar with the facts set forth below and make this
certification in support of API’s motion to dismiss.
2. Appended hereto as Exhibit A to this certification, pursuant to Rule 1:36-3, is a

true and accurate copy of the unpublished opinion in Berger v. Frazier, No. A-1852-15T1, 2018

WL 3402115 (N.J. App. Div. July 13, 2018).
3. Appended hereto as Exhibit B to this certification, pursuant to Rule 1:36-3, is a

true and accurate copy of the unpublished opinion in Boyko v. Am. Int’l Grp., Inc., No. CIV. 08-

2214, 2009 WL 5194431 (D. N.J. Dec. 23, 2009).
4. Appended hereto as Exhibit C to this certification, pursuant to Rule 1:36-3, is a

true and accurate copy of the unpublished opinion in Geter v. ADP Screening & Selection Servs.,

No. 2:14-cv-3225, 2015 WL 1867041 (D.N.J. Apr. 23, 2015).
5. Appended hereto as Exhibit D to this certification, pursuant to Rule 1:36-3, is a

true and accurate copy of the unpublished opinion in Heritage at Indep., LLC v. State, No. A-4645-

08T3, 2010 WL 4067871 (N.J. App. Div. Aug. 18, 2010).
6. Appended hereto as Exhibit E to this certification, pursuant to Rule 1:36-3, is a

true and accurate copy of the unpublished opinion in Hoffman v. Encore Cap. Grp., Inc., No. A-

3008-07T1, 2008 WL 5245306 (N.J. App. Div. Dec. 18, 2008).
7. Appended hereto as Exhibit F to this certification, pursuant to Rule 1:36-3, is a

true and accurate copy of the unpublished opinion in Joaquin v. Lonstein L. Off., P.C., No.

CV158194MASDEA, 2017 WL 2784708 (D.N.J. June 27, 2017).

8. Appended hereto as Exhibit G to this certification, pursuant to Rule 1:36-3, is a

true and accurate copy of the unpublished opinion in Nat’l Servs. Grp., Inc. v. Painting &

Decorating Contractors of Am., Inc., 2006 WL 2035465 (C.D. Cal. July 18, 2006).

5427709v1
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9. Appended hereto as Exhibit H to this certification, pursuant to Rule 1:36-3, is a

true and accurate copy of the unpublished opinion in PNC Bank v. Great Gorge Vill. S. Condo.

Council, Inc., No. 16-7648 (SRC)(CLW), 2017 WL 436389 (D.N.J. Feb. 1, 2017).

10.  Appended hereto as Exhibit I to this certification, pursuant to Rule 1:36-3, is a

true and accurate copy of the unpublished opinion in Smith v. Trusted Universal Standards in

Elec. Transactions, Inc., No. 09-4567, 2010 WL 1799456 (D.N.J. May 4, 2010).

I hereby certify that the foregoing statements made by me are true. | am aware that if any

of the foregoing statements made by me are willfully false, | am subject to punishment.

By:

Anthony J. Zarillo, Jr.

Dated: July 7, 2023

5427709v1
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Berger v. Frazier, Not Reported in Atl. Rptr. (2018)
2018 WL 3402115

2018 WL 3402115
Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.

UNPUBLISHED OPINION. CHECK
COURT RULES BEFORE CITING.

Superior Court of New Jersey, Appellate Division.

Paul BERGER, Derivatively on Behalf
of Merck & Co., Inc., Plaintiff-Appellant,
v.

Kenneth C. FRAZIER, Leslie A. Brun, Thoms R.
Cech, Thomas H. Glocer, William B. Harrison, Jr.,
C. Robert Kidder, Rochelle B. Lazarus, Carlos E.
Represas, Patricia F. Russo, Craig B. Thompson,
Wendell P. Weeks, Peter C. Wendell, Robert M.
Davis, and Peter N. Kellogg, Defendants-Respondents,
and
Merck & Co., Inc., Nominal

Defendant-Nominal Respondent.

DOCKET NO. A-1852-15T1
[
Argued October 18, 2017
[
Decided July 13, 2018

On appeal from Superior Court of New Jersey, Law Division,
Union County, Docket No. L-1379-15.

Attorneys and Law Firms

John F. Keating, Jr. (The Brualdi Law Firm, PC) argued the
cause for appellant (Steven P. Lombardi, attorney; Richard B.
Brualdi, Steven P. Lombardi, and John F. Keating, Jr., on the
brief).

Mark A. Kirsch (Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher, LLP) of the
New York bar, admitted pro hac vice, argued the cause for
respondents (McCarter & English, LLP, and Mark A. Kirsch,
attorneys; Mark A. Kirsch, Laura K. O'Boyle and Peter M.
Wade (Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher, LLP) of the New York bar,
admitted pro hac vice, Samuel G. Liversidge (Gibson, Dunn
& Crutcher, LLP) of the California bar, admitted pro hac vice,
and Mary Gabriel, on the brief).

Before Judges Fuentes, Koblitz, and Suter.

Opinion
PER CURIAM

*1 Plaintiff Paul Berger appeals from a December 4, 2015
order that dismissed his shareholder derivative lawsuit filed
against the individual members of Merck & Company's
(Merck's) Board of Directors (Board) and three members

of Merck's management (collectively, defendants).l The
complaint alleged that defendants caused Merck to fail to
disclose its tax liability on indefinitely reinvested overseas
earnings, otherwise known as the Repatriation Tax (Tax),
when it filed its 2013 Form 10-K with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC). We affirm dismissal of the
complaint under Rule 4:6-2(e), for failure to state a claim
upon which relief can be granted.

L.

Merck is a Fortune 500 company headquartered in New
Jersey. Its common stock is traded on the New York Stock
Exchange. It is a “global health care company.” In 2013, its
revenue was approximately $43.9 billon; it had $57.1 billion
of earnings from its subsidiaries outside the United States.
Plaintiff is a stockholder of Merck.

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)2
has developed various accounting standards. Standard
740-30-50-2 requires disclosure by companies of “[t]he
amount of the unrecognized deferred tax liability for
temporary differences related to investments in foreign
subsidiaries and foreign corporate joint ventures that are
essentially permanent in duration if determination of that
liability is practicable or a statement that determination is not
practicable.”

Merck's Form 10-K for year end 2013, filed on February 27,
2014, provided that,

[a]t December 31, 2013, foreign earnings of $57.1 billion
have been retained indefinitely by subsidiary companies
for reinvestment; therefore, no provision has been made for
income taxes that would be payable upon the distribution of
such earnings and it would not be practicable to determine
the amount of the related unrecognized deferred income tax
liability.

*2 [Emphasis added.]
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Plaintiff contends in his complaint that calculation of the Tax
is routine, requiring only that “current tax laws and rates” be
applied to “historical permanently reinvested earnings.” He
asserts that Merck's Form 10-K was misleading without the
Tax information.

On October 28, 2014, plaintiff demanded that the Board file
a lawsuit against Merck's current and past directors for their
failure to comply with Standard 740-30-50-2 when reporting
the Tax. Plaintiff asserted that this failure breached their
fiduciary duties to shareholders.

The Board hired the law firm of Forman & Shapiro, LLP (F
& S) to conduct an investigation of plaintiff's claims and to
report its findings to the Board. F & S retained an accounting
expert, interviewed partners at PricewaterhouseCoopers, who
were the accountants for Merck, and spoke with certain
current and former Merck employees. It reviewed records
from Merck's Audit Committee and communications between
the Board and the SEC.

F & S reported its findings at the February 2, 2015 Board
meeting, advising that calculation of the deferred tax liability
was “not practicable” and that it was “reasonable” for Merck
not to provide this Tax in its Form 10-K. On February 25,
2015, the Board declined to file the lawsuit requested by
plaintiff, finding it was “not in the company's best interests.”

Plaintiff filed this shareholder derivative lawsuit on April
7, 2015. The complaint alleged defendants breached their
fiduciary duty to Merck by causing Merck to fail to disclose
the Tax in its Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2014 (for the
year ending December 31, 2013) with the SEC. It included
a single count against defendants for breach of their duties
of “due care, loyalty, good faith, and other obligations to
Merck.” The relief sought included a declaration of the
breach, an affirmative injunction requiring defendants to
comply with the accounting standard to disclose the Tax,
monetary damages and attorney's fees.

The complaint alleged that other large multinational
companies, such as Apple, Microsoft and Citigroup, made
disclosure of the Tax. “On information and belief,” the
complaint averred that Merck periodically made an estimate
of the Tax. Plaintiff also said that for three prior years,
Merck calculated and reported a “reconciliation between
the effective tax rate and the U.S. statutory [tax] rate,
which included ... foreign earnings and unremitted foreign
earnings.” The complaint alleged that potential changes

to the tax laws could tax ‘“accumulated unrepatriated
foreign earnings of controlled foreign companies,” creating a
financial impact for Merck.

Plaintiff complained that Merck's Board did not “investigate
or consider the consequences” of violating this FASB
standard even though a July 5, 2014 New York Times article
had discussed the same issue and specifically referenced
Merck. Another shareholder, the Beatrice Corwin Living
Irrevocable Trust, requested access to books and records
about the same issue. According to plaintiff, the Board's
minimal response showed it did not investigate or consider
the issue.

*3 In July 2015, defendants filed a motion to dismiss
the verified complaint under Rule 4:6-2(e), for failure to
state a claim. Defendants argued that plaintiff provided no
factual support for its allegation that Merck could make
the Tax calculation “practicably.” Defendants averred that
the complaint did not allege any acts or omissions by the
individual directors that breached their fiduciary duties to the
company. Plaintiff did not identify any purported harm to the
company. Defendants also argued that the directors' decision
not to institute suit was protected by the modified business
judgment rule.

Judge Thomas J. Walsh dismissed plaintiff's complaint under
Rule 4:6-2(e) for failure to state a claim for breach of fiduciary
duty on December 4, 2015, in an oral opinion. Plaintiff's
complaint did not allege that defendants breached any “law,
regulation or other similar authority” by reporting that
Merck's deferred tax liability was not practicable to calculate.
Plaintiff did not articulate any facts to support his claims.
Plaintiff did not say how defendants breached any fiduciary
duty or that Merck's practices were “not customary in the
industry.” Merck's certificate of incorporation “parallel[ed]”
N.J.S.A. 14:2-7(3) and limited the liability of a director or
officer. The court found the complaint made “no allegation
that the Board knew of a duty to act in regard to disclosure and
consciously failed to do so; nor [did] plaintiff's [c]omplaint
assert any allegations regarding the Board's oversight of
Merck's accounting practices.” There was no obligation by
the Board to react to the New York Times newspaper article.
The trial court did not address defendants' modified business
judgment rule defense or their contention that plaintiff did not
suffer damages.

On appeal, plaintiff claims the trial court erred because it
was practicable for the company to calculate and disclose
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the Tax. Plaintiff argues that Rule 4:6-2(e) was not properly
applied. Had it been, the court would have accepted as true
all the allegations he made, including that the Tax could
be calculated. Plaintiff alleged the Board members breached
their duty to “keep informed, to read and understand Merck's
financial statements, including its tax disclosures,” by not
considering the tax implications of the Tax.

Also, the complaint should not have been dismissed based
on the exculpatory provision in Merck's certificate of
incorporation. This was extrinsic to the complaint. It should
not have been enforced at the pleading stage, before
discovery. It was improper to deny injunctive relief because
the exculpatory clause did not address it.

Plaintiff claims that the modified business judgment rule
cannot be used as an alternate basis to affirm the trial court
because the trial court did not consider it. Finally, plaintiff
argues that Robert Davis, Merck's current chief financial
officer (CFO), is a necessary party to this litigation to enforce
injunctive relief.

We conclude that plaintiff's arguments lack merit and we
affirm the dismissal of this litigation.

II.

We review de novo the challenged order that dismissed
plaintiffs' complaint for failure to state a cause of action,
applying the same legal standard as the trial court. Frederick
v. Smith, 416 N.J. Super. 594, 597 (App. Div. 2010). A motion
for failure to state a claim must be denied if, giving plaintiffs
the benefit of all their factual allegations and all favorable
inferences, a cause of action has been alleged in the complaint.

FjPrinting Mart-Morristown v. Sharp Elecs. Corp., 116 N.J.
739, 746 (1989). Conclusory allegations do not provide an

adequate basis to deny a motion to dismiss under Rule 4:6-2.

14, at 768,

*4 We agree with the trial court that the complaint was
properly dismissed under Rule 4:6-2(e). There is no dispute
that FASB standard 740-30-50-2 allows a company to report
that it is not practicable to estimate the Tax. Financial
Accounting Standard (FAS) 109 explains that a determination
or calculation may be impracticable where “the cost to
develop that information is excessive[.]” FAS No. 107,
incorporated into a different section of the ASC, indicates

that “practicable” means, “that an estimate ... can be made

without incurring excessive costs.” 3 Practicability, therefore,
is a “dynamic concept,” meaning what is practicable for one
entity might not be for another and what is not practicable in
one year might be practicable in another.

We reject plaintiff's contention that we are required to accept
as true his allegation that Merck can “practicably” estimate
the Tax. That is a conclusion that he has not supported
factually. Under Rule 4:6-2(¢), we are required to accept as
true facts that are alleged, but not conclusory allegations.
Scheidt v. DRS Techs., Inc., 424 N.J. Super 188, 193 (App.
Div. 2012). “[P]leadings reciting mere conclusions without

facts and reliance on subsequent discovery do not justify

a lawsuit.” F]GlaSS v. Suburban Restoration Co., 317 N.J.
Super. 574, 582 (App. Div. 1998); see Lederman v. Prudential
Life Ins. Co. of Am., 385 N.J. Super. 324, 349 (App. Div.
2006).

Plaintiff makes three arguments to support this conclusion,
none of which are persuasive. Plaintiff contends on
“information and belief” that Merck actually estimated the
Tax. He provided no evidence or facts to support this. This
claim is meaningless because it was based on information and
belief, not on personal knowledge even though the complaint

was verified. See F]Monmouth Cty. Social Serv. v. PA.Q.,
317 N.J. Super. 187, 193-94 (App. Div. 1998) (providing that
a complaint that is made without personal knowledge, it is a

nullity and insufficient to invoke the court's jurisdiction); see
also R. 1:4-7.

Next plaintiff says that Merck was required to make a
reconciliation between the effective tax rate and the U.S.
statutory tax rate and did so in 2011, 2012, and 2013.
Defendants acknowledge that they were required to make a
reconciliation between the effective tax rate and U.S. statutory
tax rate, but that the calculation simply applied a 35% tax rate
to foreign earnings. What is important here is that plaintiff
did not explain how this reconciliation shows that Merck can
practicably estimate the Tax at issue. This then is another bare
conclusion, not supported by facts.

Plaintiff contends that other multinational companies, such
as Apple and Microsoft, disclose the amount of the Tax.
However, that does not mean that Merck can do the
same or that its corporate structure is similar. These
are entirely different corporations with separate overseas
business holdings. Equating one company's capabilities with
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another is speculative. Therefore, we agree with the trial
court that the complaint was properly dismissed under
Rule 4:6-2(e) because it relied on a newspaper article
and conclusory statements without any supporting facts.
Without factual support, we cannot “accept as true” plaintiff's
conclusion that Merck can calculate the Tax “practicably.”

The breach of fiduciary duty claim also was properly
dismissed by the trial court. The complaint alleged a single
count for breach of fiduciary duty by Merck's directors and
officers. Plaintiff argued that Merck's shareholders “have
a right to expect that directors will exercise reasonable
supervision and control over the policies and practices of

a corporation,” citing FjFrancis v. United Jersey Bank, 87
N.J. 15, 36 (1981). He claims that defendants had a “duty to
look” which included “reading and understanding financial
statements, and making reasonable attempts at detection and

prevention of ... illegal conduct.” Fde. at 31, 39.

*5 Whether or not Francis sets forth the applicable standard,

the complaint did not allege facts sufficient to meet the
standard. The complaint did not cite a law or regulation
violated by Merck's 2013 Form 10-K. It did not identify any
inadequacies with Merck's internal controls or its financial
reporting process. It did not say what accounting standards
were violated. There was no obligation by the Board to act
based on a newspaper article that mentioned the company.
There were no factual allegations made against individual
Board members.

We discern no error by the trial court in dismissing the
complaint in the alternative based on the exculpation clause in
Merck's certificate of incorporation for directors and officers.
It provided that

all current and former directors and
officers of the Corporation shall not
be personally liable to the Corporation
or its stockholders for damages for
breach of duty owed to the Corporation

or its stockholders, except that the
provisions shall not relieve a
director or officer from liability for any
breach of duty based upon an act or
omission (a) in breach of such person's
duty of loyalty to the Corporation
or its stockholders, (b) not in good
faith or involving a knowing violation
of law or (c) resulting in receipt by
such person of an improper personal
benefit.

The certificate of incorporation was referenced by plaintiff
in his complaint. The trial court could rely on it in deciding

the Rule 4:6-2(e) motion. See F]Mvska v. N.J. Mfts. Ins.
Co., 440 N.J. Super. 458, 482 (App. Div. 2015) (quoting

F]E. Dickerson & Son, Inc. v. Ernst & Young, LLP, 361 N.J.
Super. 362, 365 n.1 (App. Div. 2003) (“a court may consider
documents specifically referenced in the complaint ‘without

converting the motion into one for summary judgment.’
). Plaintiff's complaint did not allege facts showing the
individual defendants breached their duty of loyalty, acted in
bad faith, knew about any violation of law or benefited from
the Form 10-K filing.

We also reject plaintiff's argument that Robert Davis was a
necessary party to the litigation. He was not CFO when the
2013 Form 10-K was filed in February 2014. He is not needed
for injunctive relief, given our decision here.

In light of our opinion, we have no need to address any of
plaintiff's arguments about the modified business judgment

rule.

Affirmed.

All Citations

Not Reported in Atl. Rptr., 2018 WL 3402115
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Defendants include: Kenneth C. Frazier, Merck's President and Chief Executive officer since 2011; Robert
M. Davis, Merck's Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) since 2014; Peter N. Kellogg,
Merck's Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from 2007 to April 2014; Leslie A. Brun, a
member of the Board since 2008; Thoms R. Cech, a member of the Board since 2009; Thomas H. Glocer,
a member of the Board since 2007; William B. Harrison, Jr., a member of the Board since 1999; C. Robert
Kidder, a member of the Board since 2005; Rochelle B. Lazarus, a member of the Board since 2004; Carlos
E. Represas, a member of the Board since 2009; Patricia F. Russo, a member of the Board since 1995; Craig
B. Thompson, a member of the Board since 2008; Wendell P. Weeks, a member of the Board since 2004;
and Peter C. Wendell, a member of the Board since 2003.

FASB “establishes financial accounting and reporting standards for public and private companies and not-
for-profit organizations that follow Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.” About Us, FASB, https://
www.fasb.org/jsp/FASB/Page/LandingPage&cid=1175805317407.

See Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 107, Accounting for Income Taxes, 7 (Dec. 1991),
http://www.fasb.org/jsp/FASB/Document_C/DocumentPage?cid1218220123701&acceptedDisclaimer=true.

End of Document © 2023 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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United States District Court, D. New Jersey.

Victor BOYKO, Plaintiff,
V.

AMERICAN INTERNATIONAL GROUP,
INC., American International Insurance Company
of New Jersey, Inc., Credit Control Systems
Inc., and AIG Marketing, Inc., Defendants.

Civil No. 08-2214 (RBK/JS).
|
Dec. 23, 2009.

West KeySummary

Antitrust and Trade

Regulation &= Particular cases
Conspiracy &= Particular Subjects of
Conspiracy

A automobile insurance customer failed to state
a consumer fraud claim against a debt collector
as he did not plead any facts to support a
concerted effort between the debt collector and
the insurance company such that it could be
inferred a scheme to defraud was plausible rather
than merely possible. The debt collector called
and sent notices to the customer regarding a
debt that he purportedly did not owe. While
perhaps liability for subsequent fraud could be
stretched to include efforts by debt collectors
in conspiracy with the seller, the customer
making such a claim must plead facts supporting
the alleged conspiracy. Here, the customer
summarily pled that the debt collector and the
insurance company were involved in a joint
enterprise. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule 12(b)(6), 28

US.CA:FINISA. 56:8-2.

18 Cases that cite this headnote

Braden Andrew Borger, Sean Tracy O'Neill, Saul Ewing LLP,
Philadelphia, PA, for Defendants.

OPINION
KUGLER, District Judge.

*1 This matter comes before the Court upon a motion by
Credit Control Systems, Inc. (CCS) to dismiss the Amended

Complaint of Plaintiff ! Victor Boyko, or in the alternative, to
strike certain paragraphs. For the reasons set forth below, the
Court grants CCS's Motion to Dismiss and denies the Motion
to Strike.

I. BACKGROUND

On December 2, 2006, Plaintiff purchased an automobile
insurance policy from American International Insurance
Company. The policy ran from December 2, 2006 to May
31, 2007. Mr. Boyko paid in full all premiums due for
the period. The policy contained an automatic termination
provision, which provided: “If we offer to renew or continue
and you or your representative do not accept, this policy
will automatically terminate at the end of the current policy
period. Failure to pay the required premium when due shall
mean that you have not accepted our offer.” Amd. Compl. at
9 36. On April 17, 2007, American International Insurance
Company offered to renew the policy for an additional six
months beginning on June 1, 2007 provided Plaintiff remitted
the required premium by June 1, 2007. Plaintiff did not accept
the renewal offer, nor did he pay the requested premium.

Nevertheless, on September 11, 2007, Plaintiff alleges that
an entity known as “American Insurance Group (AIG)” sent
him a payment demand for $262 allegedly owed for coverage
provided prior to the cancellation of the policy. Plaintiff
alleges that this bill included a demand for $31 for monies
allegedly due to the New Jersey Guaranty Fund. Plaintiff did
not pay the bill.

On October 22, 2007, Defendant Credit Control Services
d/b/a Credit Collection Services sent Plaintiff a notice and
demand for payment of $262 on behalf of “AIG Insurance
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Companies.” Amd. Compl. at § 42. CCS sent Plaintiff a
second and third notice and demand on November 11, 2007
and December 2, 2007, respectively. CSS made numerous
calls to Plaintiff demanding payment. On January 21, 2008,
Plaintiff paid the full amount demanded under protest. The
Defendants failed to forward the $31 payment to the New
Jersey Guaranty Fund.

Plaintiff filed a Complaint against Defendants American
International Group, Inc. (AIG), American International
Insurance Company of New Jersey, Inc. (AIIC), and CCS on
May 5, 2008. AIG and AIIC filed an answer on September 11,
2008. CCS filed an answer on October 20, 2008. With leave
of court, Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint on April 20,
2009 broadening the geographic scope of the proposed class
of plaintiffs.

I1. STANDARD
Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6), a court may
dismiss an action for failure to state a claim upon which relief

1733

can be granted. With a motion to dismiss, * ‘courts accept all
factual allegations as true, construe the complaint in the light
most favorable to the plaintiff, and determine whether, under

any reasonable reading of the complaint, the plaintiff may

be entitled to relief.” ” F:lFowler v. UPMC Shadyside, 578

F.3d 203, 210 (3d Cir.2009) (quoting F:IPhillips v. County of

Allegheny, 515 F.3d 224,233 (3d Cir.2008)). In other words, a
complaint survives a motion to dismiss if it contains sufficient
factual matter, accepted as true, to “state a claim to relief that

is plausible on its face.” F:lBell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly,
550 U.S. 544, 570, 127 S.Ct. 1955, 167 L.Ed.2d 929 (2007).

*2 In making this determination, a court must engage in

a two part analysis. F]Ashcrofl v. Ighal, — U.S. ——,
—— — ——, 129 S.Ct. 1937, 1949-50, 173 L.Ed.2d 868

(2009); F]Fowler, 578 F.3d at 210-11. First, the court must

separate factual allegations from legal conclusions. F:llqbal,
129 S.Ct. at 1949. “Threadbare recitals of the elements of a
cause of action, supported by mere conclusory statements, do
not suffice.” Id. Second, the court must determine whether
the factual allegations are sufficient to show that the plaintiff
has a “plausible claim for relief.” Id. at 1950. Determining
plausibility is a “context-specific task” that requires the court
to “draw on its judicial experience and common sense.” Id. A
complaint cannot survive where a court can only infer that a
claim is merely possible rather than plausible. See id.

Alternatively, under Rule 12(f), a party may move to strike
from a pleading “an insufficient defense or any redundant,
immaterial, impertinent, or scandalous matter.” A court has
“considerable discretion” in deciding a Rule 12(f) motion.

F]Tonka Corp. v. Rose Art Indus., Inc., 836 F.Supp. 200, 217
(D.N.J.1993). However, motions to strike are disfavored and
usually will be denied “unless the allegations have no possible
relation to the controversy and may cause prejudice to one of
the parties, or if the allegations confuse the issues in the case.”
River Road Dev. Corp. v. Carlson Corp. Ne., No. 89-7037,
1990 WL 69085, at *3 (E.D.Pa. May 23, 1990). Importantly,
a motion to strike is not a proper way to dismiss part of
complaint for legal insufficiency. See 5C Charles Alan Wright
& Arthur R. Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure § 1380,
at 391 (3d ed.2004). Notwithstanding, a court can consider
an improper Rule 12(f) motion as a motion to dismiss under
Rule 12(b)(6). See Deluca v. Michigan, No. 0612552, 2007
WL 1500331, at *1 (E.D.Mich. May 23, 2007); Magnotta v.
Leonard, 102 F.Supp. 593, 593 (M.D.Pa.1952).

I11. DISCUSSION

As a threshold matter, CCS has requested in effect that its
motions be treated as unopposed. See Docket No. 26. Under
the New Jersey Local Civil Rules, a party may seek a 14 day
extension of the motion day without the consent of the court,
the clerk, or the opposing parties if the party serves a letter
“before the date on which opposition papers would otherwise
be due [.]” L. Civ. R. 7.1(d)(5). In this case, Plaintiff's
opposition papers were due on May 18, 2009, the same day
that he applied for the automatic extension. See Docket No.
25. CCS opposed the extension, arguing that Plaintiff should
have requested an extension earlier.

While Plaintiff should have requested the extension before
May 18, the Court will nevertheless accept Plaintiff's papers
as having been timely filed. Under Local Civil Rule 83.2(b),
the Court may relax any local rule where adherence would
result in injustice. Since CCS does not appear to have been
disserviced in any way by the delay, and since Plaintiff's
mistake appears to be in good faith, it would be unjust to
ignore Plaintiff's papers. The Court now turns to the substance
of the pending motions.

*3 Plaintiff asserts three claims against CCS in the Amended
Complaint: 1) violation of the Fair Debt Collection Practices
Act (FDCPA), 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq.; 2) violation of

the New Jersey Consumer Fraud Act (CFA), FJN.J S.A.§
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56:8-2; and 3) violation of the Truth—in—Consumer Contract,
Warranty and Notice Act (TCCWNA), N.J.S.A. § 56:12-15.
Amd. Compl. at ] 95-108. Defendant CCS has moved to
dismiss the Consumer Fraud Act claim and the TCCWNA
claim. CCS has also moved to strike certain allegations in the
Amended Complaint regarding the FDCPA claim.

A. CFA

Plaintiff's second claim against CCS is under the CFA. CCS
argues that Plaintiff cannot state a claim for two reasons: 1)
CCS did not sell any merchandise or real estate to Plaintiff,
and 2) Plaintiff has failed to allege sufficient facts to show that
CCS used deceptive or unconscionable practices. Docket No.
24 at 9. Plaintiff responded by arguing that CCS is liable as an
agent of the other Defendants and CCS is liable for failing to
be a bonded collection agency as required under New Jersey
law. See Docket No. 30 at 5-6. The Court agrees with CCS
and finds that Plaintiff has failed to state a claim under the
CFA.

The CFA prohibits the use of unconscionable commercial
practices or fraud “in connection with the sale” of

merchandise or real estate. F]N.J S.A. § 56:8-2; FjCastro
v. NYT Television, 370 N.J.Super. 282, 851 A.2d 88, 95
(N.J.Super.Ct. App.Div.2004) (“[T]o state a cause of action
under the CFA, a plaintiff must allege the commission of
deception, fraud, misrepresentation, etc., ‘in connection with’
the sale of merchandise or services.”). The purpose of the Act
is to protect consumers from deception and fraud, even when

committed in good faith. F:lGennari v. Weichert Co. Realtors,
148 N.J. 582, 691 A.2d 350, 365 (N.J.1997). Importantly,
however, the CFA does not cover every transaction; instead,
“[i]ts applicability is limited to consumer transactions which
are defined both by the status of the parties and the nature

of the transaction itself.” F]Arc Networks, Inc. v. Gold
Phone Card Co., 333 N.J.Super. 587, 756 A.2d 636, 638

(N.J.Super.Ct.Law.Div.2000) (citing F]City Check Cashing,
Inc. v. Nat'l State Bank, 244 N.J.Super. 304, 582 A.2d 809
(N.J.Super.Ct.App.Div.1990)).

To state a CFA claim, a plaintiff must show three things: “1)
unlawful conduct by defendant; 2) an ascertainable loss by
plaintiff; and 3) a causal relationship between the unlawful

conduct and the ascertainable loss.” F:IBosland v. Warnock
Dodge, Inc., 197 N.J. 543, 964 A.2d 741, 749 (N.J.2009). A
plaintiff must also show that he is a “consumer” and that he

purchased “merchandise.” F:l Viking Yacht Co. v. Composites
One LLC, 496 F.Supp.2d 462, 473 (D.N.J.2007).

“Merchandise” is defined to include “any objects, wares,
goods, commodities, services or anything offered directly or

indirectly to the public for sale [.]” FJN.J.S.A. § 56:8—1(c).
“Consumer” is not defined by statute, but has been described
as “one who uses (economic) goods, and so diminishes or

destroys their utilities.” Fj Viking Yacht, 496 F.Supp.2d at 473
(quotations removed). Finally, “sale” is defined to include
“any sale, rental or distribution, offer for sale, rental or
distribution or attempt directly or indirectly to sell, rent or

distribute[.]” F:IN.J.S.A. § 56:8-1(e).

*4 Plaintiff's CFA claim must fail because CCS did not
sell any merchandise or real estate to him. The alleged
violation here occurred when CCS called and sent notices
to Plaintiff regarding a debt that he purportedly does not
owe. However, CCS's notices were not offers to sell—
and Plaintiff did not buy—anything. CCS was not selling

insurance, (which is merchandise under F]New Jersey law,
see Lemelledo v. Beneficial Mgmt. Corp. of Am., 150 N.J. 255,
696 A.2d 546, 551 (N.J.1997)), and CCS was most certainly
not selling debt. Its mere debt collection efforts on behalf of
a third party who might have sold merchandise is not itself

a sale of merchandise. See F:lHofj‘man v. Encore Capital
Group, Inc., No. A-3008-07T1, 2008 WL 5245306, at *3
(N.J.Super.Ct.App.Div. Dec.18, 2008) (holding collection
activities did not involve sale of merchandise to consumers),
certif. denied, 198 N.J. 316, 966 A.2d 1080 (N.J.2009); see

also F:IJoe Hand Promotions, Inc. v. Mills, 567 F.Supp.2d
719, 724 (D.N.J.2008) (holding letter claiming money
owed for sale of pay-per-view program did not involve
the sale of merchandise). These facts are insufficient to

show misrepresentation or an unconscionable practice “in
connection with the sale” of merchandise or real estate.

Plaintiff counters by asserting that CCS was acting in concert
with the other Defendants such that CCS's agency with them
can create liability. See Docket No. 30 at 5. Plaintiff relies on
Whittingham v. Amended Mortgage Electronic Registration
Services, Inc., No. 06-3016,2007 WL 1456196, at *8 (D.N.J.
May 15, 2007) for the proposition that subsequent fraud in
the performance of a fraudulent sale is actionable under the
CFA. See Docket No. 30 at 5. Plaintiff further relies on

F]Geimari v. Weichart Co. Realtors, 148 N.J. 582,691 A.2d
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350 (N.J.1997) for the proposition that an agent involved in
the perpetration of a fraud involving the sale of merchandise
is also liable under the CFA. Plaintiff's reliance on those cases
is faulty.

First, liability for subsequent fraud is seemingly limited to
where the original person selling the merchandise or real

estate continues the fraud himself. See F:l Weiss v. First Unum
Life Ins. Co., 482 F.3d 254, 266 (3d Cir.2007) (holding fraud
by seller at point of sale and then in subsequent performance
creates liability under the CFA). Plaintiff here is not alleging
that the other Defendants continued the fraud themselves,
but that they worked in concert with a third party, CCS, to
perpetuate the fraud.

Second, while perhaps liability for subsequent fraud can be
stretched to include efforts by debt collectors in conspiracy
with the seller, a plaintiff making such a claim must plead

facts supporting the alleged conspiracy. See F:llqbal, 129
S.Ct. at 1951 (holding bare assertion of conspiracy is
insufficient pleading). While the acts of a debt collector are
possibly consistent with a scheme to defraud, they are also
consistent with a standard debtor-debt collector relationship,
i.e., a party owed a debt enlists the support of a debt collector
to pursue the debt. Cf id. (holding plaintiff must plead
sufficient facts to show claim is plausible rather than merely
possible, which means allegations merely consistent with
an illicit purpose, but not showing that it is plausible, are
insufficient). Here, Plaintiff has summarily plead, inter alia,
that the “Defendants” were involved in a “joint enterprise.”
See Amd. Compl. at 4 17. Plaintiff has not plead any facts
to support a concerted effort between CCS and the other
Defendants such that the Court can infer that a scheme to
defraud is plausible rather than merely possible.

*5 Third, the agency theory on which Plaintiff relies does
not support that an agent of a defrauding principal is always
liable under the CFA, but rather supports that an agent is
liable where the agent was intimately involved in the initial
fraudulent sale. Cf- Gennari, 691 A.2d at 637 (holding real
estate agent liable for fraudulent sale of poorly constructed
homes where she was also an officer for the builder and
was “integral” to the acquisition, marketing, and sale of the
homes). Here Plaintiff has not plead any facts to support
that CCS was involved in the initial sale of the underlying
insurance such that CCS can be liable under the CFA.

Thus, based on this analysis, CCS did not sell anything
to Plaintiff and Plaintiff has failed to plead a relationship
between CCS and the other Defendants such that liability can

otherwise attach. Therefore, the Court grants CCS's Motion
to Dismiss as to the CFA claim.

B. TCCWNA

Plaintiff's third claim against CCS is under the TCCWNA.
CCS argues that the TCCWNA claim must fail because the
Act does not apply to debt collectors, and even if it does,
Plaintiff is not a “consumer” under the Act. Docket No. 24
at 4. Plaintiff counters that CCS was acting as an agent for
the other Defendants and thus it bears liability. Docket No.
30 at 9. The Court disagrees with Plaintiff and finds that the
TCCWNA does not apply to CCS.

Among other things, the TCCWNA prohibits a “seller, lessor,
lender, or bailee” from giving a written notice to a consumer
that includes a provision that violates state or federal law.
N.J.S.A. § 56:12-15. A “consumer” is defined as “any
individual who buys, leases, borrows, or bails any money,
property, or service which is primarily for personal, family,
or household purposes.” Id. The terms “seller, lessor, lender,
or bailee” are not defined by statute. Thus, to define those
terms, a reviewing court must rely on the plain language
of the statute and give the language its ordinary meaning.

See F]Barrows v. Chase Manhattan Mortgage Corp., 465
F.Supp.2d 347, 362 (D.N.J.20006) (citing Miah v. Ahmed, 179
N.J. 511, 846 A.2d 1244, 1249 (N.J.2004)).

Plaintiff does not assert in the Amended Complaint nor in
the opposition brief that CCS is a seller, lessor, lender, or
bailee. Indeed, were Plaintiff to make such an argument, that
assertion would fail since CCS did not sell, lease, lend or

bail any money or property to Plaintiff. 3 cf. FjBarrows, 465
F.Supp.2d at 362—63 (holding law firm and its attorneys who
charged fees to mortgagee for actions on behalf of mortgagor
not subject to TCCWNA). Instead, Plaintiff argues that CCS
was in an agency relationship with the other Defendants and is
thus subject to the Act because they were a seller. See Docket
No. 30 at 9. This argument also fails. Under the plain language
of'the statute, liability does not extend to agents of the covered
entities. Thus, assuming that Plaintiff has alleged sufficient
facts to support a principal-agent relationship, CCS cannot be
liable under the TCCWNA for its acts on behalf of the other
Defendants where CC S's acts did not involve selling, leasing,
lending, or bailing.
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*6 Therefore, the Court grants CCS's Motion to Dismiss as
to the TCCWNA claim.

C. Leave to Amend
Having dismissed the CFA claim and the TCCWNA claim
of the Amended Complaint, the Court must now address
whether to grant leave to amend. Where a complaint is
dismissed for failure to state a claim, leave to amend should

normally be granted. F:IShane v. Fauver, 213 F.3d 113, 115
(3d Cir.2000). However, the rule is not absolute: Leave to
amend is inappropriate where it would cause undue delay, the
amendment is motivated by bad faith or a dilatory motive,
the amendment would cause prejudice, or the amendment is

futile. F:Iln re Burlington Factory Sec. Litig., 114 F.3d 1410,
1434 (3d Cir.1997).

As to the CFA claim, the Court holds that leave to amend
is warranted. Plaintiff may potentially be able to plead facts
that support a conspiracy between the other Defendants and
CCS to support a claim. Therefore, Plaintiff is granted leave
to amend the CFA claim within 10 days of the accompanying
Order.

As to the TCCWNA claim, however, the Court holds that
leave to amend is futile. Under no set of facts will Plaintiff
be able to allege that CCS was a “seller, lessor, lender, or
bailee.” Therefore, the Court denies Plaintiff leave to amend
the TCCWNA claim.

D. Motion to Strike
In addition to its Motion to Dismiss, CCS moves to strike

paragraphs 49, * 50, 97(b),® and 100(b)” of the Amended

Complaint under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(1).8
CCS contends that these paragraphs are immaterial and will
cause prejudice and confusion. Docket No. 24 at 15. Plaintiff
maintains that paragraphs 49, 97(b), and 100(b) are relevant
to the FDCPA claim and that paragraph 50 is likewise relevant
to the CFA claim and/or the FDCPA claim. The Court agrees
with Plaintiff as to the FDCPA claim and paragraphs 49,
97(b), and 100(b), but disagrees as to the CFA claim and
paragraph 50. The Court instead finds that paragraph 50 is
only relevant to the FDCPA claim.

1. Paragraphs 49, 97(b), and 100(b)

Paragraphs 49, 97(b), and 100(b) each relate to the allegation
that Credit Control Systems, Inc. violated the FDCPA by
using a name, “Credit Collection Services” or “CCS,” on the
notices it sent to Plaintiff that were not its “true name.” Under
the FDCPA, a debt collector engages in false, deceptive, or
misleading representations when collecting a debt if it uses
“any business, company, or organization name other than
the true name of the debt collector's business, company, or

organization.” FIS U.S.C. § 1692¢(14). What constitutes a
debt collector's “true name” is not defined by statute or the

relevant legislative history. ? The Federal Trade Commission
has interpreted the provision to mean that a debt collector
“may use its full business name, the name under which it
usually transacts business, or a commonly-used acronym.
When the collector uses multiple names in its various affairs,

it does not violate [F§ 1692¢(14) ] if it consistently uses
the same name when dealing with a particular customer.”
Staff Commentary on the Fair Debt Collection Practices

Act, 53 Fed.Reg. 50,097-02, 50,107 (Dec. 13, 1988).'"
Alternatively, at least one court has held that a business's
true name includes the name in which it has a license

to conduct business under state law. See F:IKizer v. Am.
Credit & Collection, No. B-90-78, 1990 WL 317475, at
*6 (D.Conn. Dec.17, 1990). Despite the ambiguity at the

periphery of analysis of what is a true name, F§ 1692¢(14)
at its core clearly prohibits the use of a name that is neither
the collector's actual corporate name nor its trade name,

licensed or otherwise. See F:IPeter v. GC Servs. L.P, 310
F.3d 344, 352 (5th Cir.2002) (holding debt collector's use of
“United States Department of Education” on outside envelope

violated F§ 1692¢(14)).

*7 From this authority, the Court is persuaded that a
collector's “true name” includes the collector's legal name

(i.e., the registered corporate or LLC name with the state) as

well as the name under which it is licensed to do business.

The Court is not convinced that a collector is using its
“true name” where it engages in collection activities under

an unlicensed trade name or its commonly known name. 12

Section 1962¢(14) seems to suggest with the word “true”
that only an official name will suffice. Congress could have

used a broader term such as “own” name, see FJIS U.S.C.

§ 1692a(6) (defining “debt collector”), if it intended F§
1692¢(14) to be inclusive rather than exclusive of other
names. Given however that the purpose of the provision is to
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prevent fraud and misleading representations, and given that
Congress used an exacting term like “true name,” the Court

is convinced that F§ 1692¢(14) requires debt collectors to
use a precise, official name when conducting debt collection
activities.

With this standard in mind, the Court now turns to Defendant's
pending Motion to Strike. As an initial matter, Defendant's
Motion is improper under Rule 12(f). What CCS is effectively
asking the Court to do is strike an entire count of Plaintiff's
Amended Complaint. Since this is not appropriately done
under Rule 12(f), the pending Motion will be treated as a
motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim.

Regardless of the standard used, CCS's Motion cannot be
granted. CCS first contends that the claim is insufficient
because Plaintiff has not pled that he was deceived by CCS
using the name Credit Collection Services or CCS, instead
of Credit Control Systems. Docket No. 24 at 11-12. But

CCS misconstrues F§ 1692¢e(14). The section does not
require an affirmative pleading that a person was mislead
by the use of an improper name; indeed such deception is
assumed where a party pleads that he received an improper

communication. FSection 1692¢ begins by stating: “A debt
collector may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading
representations in connection with the collection of a debt.
Without limiting the general application of the foregoing,
the following conduct is a violation of this section[.]” From
there, the statute specifically lists sixteen prohibited actions.
Subsection 14 does not include any language to the effect of
“that deceives the party.” Thus, subsection 14 must be read
to be a per se deceptive act. In other words, if a party can
prove, for example, that he received a letter using a name other
than the debt collector's true name, he has proven a deceptive

practice. 13

CCS also contends that because Plaintiff has not pled that
he sustained a loss from the purported FDCPA violation,
he has not stated a claim. See Docket No. 24 at 12. This
argument fails because the FDCPA is generally a strict
liability statute, and thus does not require proof of actual

damages to support a claim. See F]Russell v. Equifax A.R.S.,
74 F.3d 30, 33 (2d Cir.1996); Rosamilia v. ACB Receivables
Mgmt., Inc., No. 08—4063, 2009 WL 1085507, at *5 (D.N.J.
Apr.22, 2009); Pace v. Leavitt, No. 06-2925, 2007 WL
432978, at *2 n. 4 (D.N.J. Jan.31, 2007), aff'd, 293 Fed.
Appx. 919 (3d Cir.2008); 15 U.S.C. § 1692k. But see

FGraziano v. Harrison, 950 F.2d 107, 113 (3d Cir.1991)
(holding no liability for debt collector for contacting debtor
represented by counsel where collector did not know of the
representation).

*8 Finally, CCS's motion cannot be granted because
significant questions of fact exist that foreclose a motion
to dismiss. The Court is required at this stage to assume
true the factual allegations in the Amended Complaint. Here,
Plaintiff has pled facts supporting that CCS used a name
other than its true name. Thus, despite CCS's protestations
that Credit Collection Services or CCS is the name under
which it usually transacts business, see Docket No. 24 at 12,
the Court cannot make that determination with reference to

extraneous information. Cf. F]Dickenson v. Townside TV. &
Appliance, Inc., 770 F.Supp. 1122, 1125-26 (S.D.W.Va.1990)
(granting summary judgment where defendants submitted
affidavit, certificate of incorporation, state business license,
city business license, printed advertisements, and debtor's
rental agreements and termination notices showing business
consistently conducted business and billed customers with
same name).

Therefore, the Court denies CCS's Motion to Strike as to
paragraphs 49, 97(b), and 100(b).

2. Paragraph 50
Plaintiff's allegation in paragraph 50 is that CCS is not
licensed or bonded in New Jersey. Plaintiff suggests that this
allegation is essential because it supports his CFA claim. See
Docket No. 30 at 12. As discussed above, however, the CFA
claim is deficient and the bond claim does not support it.
Nevertheless, Plaintiff also argues that this allegation supports
his FDCPA claim. See Docket No. 30 at 12. This argument has
merit and warrants denying CCS's Motion to Strike. Evidence
that CCS was unlicensed in New Jersey potentially supports
that CCS was not conducting business in its “true name.” That
is, the allegation in paragraph 50 provides support that CCS
could not conduct business in the name of Credit Collection
Services, since that was not a name under which it was

licensed to do business (at least in New Jersey). See F:IKizer,
1990 WL 317475, at *6.

Therefore, the Court denies CCS's Motion to Strike as to
paragraph 50.

E. Rule 56(f) Affidavit
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In connection with the pending Motion to Dismiss, Plaintiff
also filed an affidavit pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 56(f). See Docket No. 30-3. Plaintiff alleges that
CCS filed its motion as a motion to dismiss and/or for
summary judgment. See Docket No. 30-3 at § 2. He also
alleges CCS relied on documents outside of the pleadings.
1d. at 4 3. Plaintiff requests that the Court delay decision on
summary judgment until discovery is complete. Id. at § 5.
However, CCS has not filed a motion for summary judgment
and it has not attached or relied on information beyond the
pleadings. Further, the Court has not converted any of the
pending motions to a motion for summary judgment pursuant
to Rule 12(d). Therefore, Plaintiff's request is moot.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court GRANTS Defendant
CCS's Motion to Dismiss as to the CFA claim and the
TCCWNA claim. The Court GRANTS Plaintiff leave to
amend the CFA claim within 10 days of the accompanying
Order, and the Court DENIES Plaintiff leave to amend the
TCCWNA claim. Finally, the Court DENIES CCS's Motion
to Strike.

All Citations

Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 2009 WL 5194431

Footnotes

Plaintiff has not yet moved for class certification. Because the Court has not certified the class, it shall refer
to Plaintiff in the singular.

Plaintiff also claims in his opposition brief that CCS is liable under the CFA because it had not posted a
bond to engage in collection activities, as is required by New Jersey law. See Docket No. 30 at 6 (citing

N.J.S.A. § 45:18-1). Under the CFA, violation of certain regulations constitutes an “unlawful practice.” I~ Cox
v. Sears Roebuck & Co., 138 N.J. 2, 647 A.2d 454, 462 (N.J.1994). Generally, a violation of regulations
promulgated under the CFA is sufficient to state a claim, see id.; however, at least one court has held that

violation of regulations not promulgated under the Act can also suffice for a claim. See [ Artistic Lawn &
Landscape Co. v. Smith, 381 N.J.Super. 75, 884 A.2d 828 (N.J.Super.Ct.Law.Div.2005). Notwithstanding, a
CFA claim based on violation of a consumer protection regulation must still arise in connection with the sale

of merchandise or real estate. See generally I~ Cox, 647 A.2d at 462—63. Thus, here, where Plaintiff has
not shown that CCS's actions were in connection with the sale of anything, Plaintiff cannot sustain a claim
for violation of the bond requirement.

As an aside, this analysis cannot be read to hold that the Court finds that a violation of the bond requirement
is a violation of the CFA. The Court is not called on to decide, and thus will not, whether an alleged violation
of N.J.S.A. § 45:18-1 supports a claim under the CFA against a debt collector.

Which also means that Plaintiff is not a “consumer” vis-a-vis CCS.

“Each of the notices send by the Defendant Credit Control Services, Inc identified the name of the business
as CCS or Credit Collection Services.” Amd. Compl. § 49.

“The Defendant Credit Control Services, Inc dba Credit Collection Services is not licensed nor bonded in the
State of New Jersey as a debt collector pursuant to NJSA 45:18-1 et seq. since August 3, 2004. Exhibit F.”
Amd. Compl. 1 50.

“The Defendant, Credit Control Services, Inc dba Credit Collection Services and C.C.S. has violated the
Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 15 U.S.C. 1692 et setq [sic] (FDCPA) by their conduct, including, but not
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13

limited to: ... b) using a name for the business other than the true name of the debt collector (F15 U.S.C.
§ 1692e(14)) [.]" Amd. Compl. T 97(b).

“The Defendant, Credit Control Services, Inc dba Credit Collection Services and C.C.S. has engaged in unfair
and/or deceptive acts and practices with respect to Plaintiff and each Class member that includes one or
more of the following: ... b. using a name for the business other than the true name of the debt collector [.]”
Amd. Compl. 1 100(b).

For purposes of Defendant CCS's pending Motion to Strike, whether the Court treats it as a Rule 12(f) motion
or a Rule 12(b) (6) motion is immaterial since Plaintiff responded to it as if it were a motion to dismiss. See
Docket No. 30 at 11.

The court in F]Anthes v. Transworld Systems, Inc., 765 F.Supp. 162, 172 n. 11 (D.Del.1991), interpreted

the legislative purpose behind F§ 1692e(14) to prevent debt collectors from misrepresenting that they are
credit bureaus. However, even if this is the purpose behind the statute, it does not shed much light on what
is a business's true name.

“o

The Court is mindful that FTC Commentary on the FDCPA is not entitled to deference “ ‘except to the extent

its logic is persuasive.’” FjBrown v. Card Serv. Ctr., 464 F.3d 450, 455-56 (3d Cir.2006) (quoting F]Dutton
v. Wolpoff & Abramson, 5 F.3d 649, 654 (3d Cir.1993)).

This holding cannot be read to state the CCS is liable under the FDCPA because it used both Credit Collection
Services and CCS in its notices. Where a collector uses an acronym after it fully identifies itself at the
beginning of a notice does not give rise to liability.

Moreover, the Court is unconvinced that the “least sophisticated debtor” would not be misled by a debt

collector's use of a commonly used—but unlicensed or unregistered—name. See F]Wilson v. Quadramed
Corp., 225 F.3d 350, 354 (3d Cir.2000) (holding whether a practice is deceptive under the FDCPA is judged

by whether the “least sophisticated debtor” would be misled); see also F:ICatencamp v. Cendent Timeshare
Resort Group Consumer Fin., Inc., 471 F.3d 780, 782 (7th Cir.2006) (“[U]nsophisticated readers do not see
through acronyms when the creditor's full name is missing.”).

This conclusion differs markedly from the conclusion in Anthes, wherein the court held that a debt collector
can use other names under F§ 1692e(14) “to the extent that their use is not false, deceptive, or misleading.”

F:|765 F.Supp. at 172. The Court believes that this holding is in discord with the structure and language of

F§ 1692e as just examined above.

End of Document © 2023 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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Myles GETER, on behalf of himself and
all others similarly situated, Plaintiff,
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ADP SCREENING AND SELECTION
SERVICES, INC.,, et al., Defendants.
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OPINION
WILLIAM J. MARTINI, District Judge.

*1 Plaintiff Myles Geter filed this putative class action
against Defendants ADP Screening and Selection Services,
Inc. (“ADP”) and Planned Companies, Inc. (“Planned
Companies”). The four-count Amended Complaint asserts
claims under the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. §
1681 et seq. (“FCRA”), and the New Jersey Consumer Fraud

Act, F]N.J. Stat. Ann. § 56:8-1 et seq. (“CFA”). Those
claims arise from Planned Companies' rejection of Plaintiff's
application for employment following a background check by
ADP.

This matter comes before the Court on (1) ADP's motion for
summary judgment on Counts One and Three under Federal
Rule of Civil Procedure 56, (2) ADP's motion to dismiss

Count Four ! under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)
(6), and (3) Planned Companies' motion to dismiss Count
Two under Rule 12(b)(6). There was no oral argument.
Fed.R.Civ.P. 78(b). For the reasons set forth below, ADP's
motion for summary judgment is DENIED, ADP's motion to

dismiss is GRANTED, and Planned Companies' motion to
dismiss is DENIED.

I. BACKGROUND

A. Legal Framework
The FCRA's purpose is “to ensure fair and accurate credit
reporting, promote efficiency in the banking system, and

protect consumer privacy.” F]Gelman v. State Farm Mut.
Auto. Ins. Co., 583 F.3d 187, 191 (3d Cir.2009) (citation
omitted). It contains provisions governing the use of
consumer reports for employment purposes.

Under the FCRA, a “user” of a consumer report who intends
to take an “adverse action” on a job application “based in
whole or in part” on information obtained from the consumer
report must provide a copy of the report to the job applicant,
along with a notice of the applicant's dispute rights under the
FCRA, before taking the adverse action (a “pre-adverse action

notice”). F:IIS U.S .C. § 1681b(b)(3). Additionally, after an
adverse action occurs, the consumer employment applicant
must receive a second notice. Id. § 1681m.

Further, under Section 168li(a)(1)(A), credit reporting
agencies must promptly reinvestigate any information in a
consumer's file that a consumer disputes and either record
the current status of the information in dispute or delete
it. Section 1681i sets forth a fairly specific process for
disputing information in a credit report. A consumer must
first inform the credit agency of the dispute. /d. § 1681i(a)(1).
The credit reporting agency must reinvestigate promptly. The
agency must then appropriately respond to the dispute based
on the results of its reinvestigation. This includes deleting
or modifying disputed information when appropriate. Id. §
1681i(a)(5). The credit reporting agency must also notify the
consumer promptly of the results of the reinvestigation in
writing. Id. § 1681i(a)(6).

B. Factual Background

The following facts are alleged in the Amended Complaint.
Plaintiff is a New Jersey citizen who applied for a
position at Planned Companies. Am. Compl. § 12, 29, ECF
No. 4. Defendant Planned Companies provides janitorial,
maintenance, concierge/front desk and security services to
its clients. Am. Compl. § 14. Defendant ADP provides pre-
employment screening reports. /d. 4 11.
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*2  As part of its employment screening process, Planned
Companies employs ADP to perform background searches
of public record information concerning job applicants,
including Plaintiff. Am. Compl. 4 11, 25, 31. These
background searches include the applicant's alleged criminal
record history. Id. § 17. Planned Companies also employed
ADP to send out FCRA pre- and adverse action notices
to consumers who applied for employment positions with
Planned Companies. /d. 9 25. Plaintiff alleges that ADP did
more than just conduct background searches and send out
notices, however. Id. 9§ 25. Specifically, Plaintiff maintains
that Planned Companies provided ADP in advance with
criteria that ADP used to “adjudicate” whether or not to
disqualify an applicant based on the consumer report ADP
generated. Id. 9 25.

Regarding Plaintiff's circumstances, in February 2007,
Plaintiff “was falsely accused of threatening a former
classmate over the website MySpace and was arrested on a
variety of improper criminal charges.” Am. Compl. §27. The
charges against Plaintiff were eventually dropped due to a
lack of evidence. Id. 9 28.

On February 25, 2013, Plaintiff applied for a position as
a concierge at Planned Companies. Am. Compl. 9§ 29. He
was immediately offered an interview, which took place
on February 27, 2013. Id. § 30. That same day, Planned
Companies employed ADP to perform a background check
on Plaintiff. /d.  31. ADP prepared and delivered a consumer
report concerning Plaintiff to Planned Companies on March
5, 2013, which included adverse criminal record information
relating to the false accusations from 2007. /d. § 33.

On March 8, 2013, Plaintiff contacted Planned Companies
to follow up on his interview. Am. Compl. § 34. He was
informed that his consumer report contained a criminal
record and that “an adverse action had already been ordered”
denying his application for employment based on the contents
ofthe ADP report. /d. Planned Companies then sent Plaintiff a
digital copy of a computer-generated form pre-adverse action
notice, dated March 7, 2013, from ADP to Plaintiff (the “Pre—
Adverse Action Notice”). Id. § 35. That same day, Plaintiff
contacted ADP to dispute the completeness and accuracy of
ADP's consumer report. Id. § 37. ADP allegedly refused to
process Plaintiff's dispute or initiate a reinvestigation of the
disputed information. /d. 9 38.

Plaintiff alleges that at the time Defendants sent the Pre—
Adverse Action Notice to him—and in conformity with

Defendants' customary practices—an employment decision
regarding his application had already been made. Am.
Compl. q 36. Plaintiff thus argues that he was deprived
of the opportunity to address ADP's inaccurate reporting
with Planned Companies before adverse action was taken, in
violation of the FCRA.

II. LEGAL STANDARD

A. Summary Judgment
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56 provides for summary
judgment “if the pleadings, the discovery [including,
depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on
file] and disclosure materials on file, and any affidavits show
that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and
that the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”

Fed.R.Civ.P. 56; see also F:ICelotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477
U.S. 317, 32223, FJIOG S.Ct. 2548, 91 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986);

FjTurner v. Schering—Plough Corp., 901 F.2d 335, 340 (3d
Cir.1990). A factual dispute is genuine if a reasonable jury
could find for the non-moving party, and is material if it will
affect the outcome of the trial under governing substantive

law. F]Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248,
106 S.Ct. 2505, 91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986). The Court considers
all evidence and inferences drawn therefrom in the light most

favorable to the non-moving party. F]Andreoli v. Gates, 482
F.3d 641, 647 (3d Cir.2007).

*3  Initially,
demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact.

the moving party has the burden of

F]Celolex Corp., 477 U.S. at 323. Once the moving party
has met this burden, the nonmoving party must identify, by
affidavits or otherwise, specific facts showing that there is a
genuine issue for trial. /d. The opposing party must do more
than just rest upon mere allegations, general denials, or vague

statements. FjSa/dana v. Kmart Corp., 260 F.3d 228, 232 (3d
Cir.2001). Rather, to withstand a proper motion for summary
judgment, the nonmoving party must identify specific facts
and affirmative evidence that contradict those offered by the

moving party. FjAnderson, 477 U.S. at 256-57.

B. Motion to Dismiss
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) provides for the
dismissal of a complaint, in whole or in part, if the plaintiff
fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. The
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moving party bears the burden of showing that no claim has

been stated. F:IHedges v. United States, 404 F.3d 744, 750
(3d Cir.2005). In deciding a motion to dismiss under Rule
12(b)(6), a court must take all allegations in the complaint as
true and view them in the light most favorable to the plaintiff.

See F:lWarth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490, 501, 95 S.Ct. 2197, 45
L.Ed.2d 343 (1975); Trump Hotels & Casino Resorts, Inc. v.
Mirage Resorts Inc., 140 F.3d 478, 483 (3d Cir.1998).

Although a complaint need not contain detailed factual
allegations, “a plaintiff's obligation to provide the ‘grounds'
of his ‘entitlement to relief” requires more than labels and
conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of the elements of a

cause of action will not do.” F:lBell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly,
550 U.S. 544, 555, 127 S.Ct. 1955, 167 L.Ed.2d 929 (2007).
Thus, the factual allegations must be sufficient to raise a
plaintiff's right to relief above a speculative level, such that

it is “plausible on its face.” See F:lz'd. at 570; see also

F]Umland v. PLANCO Fin. Serv,, Inc., 542 F.3d 59, 64
(3d Cir.2008). A claim has “facial plausibility when the
plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court to draw
the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the

misconduct alleged.” F:lAshcroﬁ v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678,

129 S.Ct. 1937, 173 L.Ed.2d 868 (2009) (citing F]Twombly,
550 U.S. at 556). While “[t]he plausibility standard is not akin
to a ‘probability requirement’ ... it asks for more than a sheer
possibility.” Id.

I11. DISCUSSION
The Amended Complaint asserts the following claims:

(1) Count One: Violation of FRCA F]Section 1681b(b)(3)
against ADP;

(2) Count Two: Violation of FRCA F:ISection 1681b(b)(3)

against Planned Companies;

(3) Count Three: Violation of FRCA Section 1681i(a)
against ADP; and

(4) Count Four: Violation of the CFA against ADP.

ADP moves for summary judgment on Counts One and Three
and to dismiss Count Four. Planned Companies moves to
dismiss Count Two.

A. ADP's Motion for Summary Judgment is
Premature
ADP moves for summary judgment pre-discovery and
attaches evidence in support of its motion. Plaintiff argues
that ADP's motion is premature, citing Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 56(d).

*4 Rule 56(d) states:

If a nonmovant shows by affidavit or
declaration that, for specified reasons,
it cannot present facts essential to
justify its opposition, the court may:
(1) defer considering the motion or
deny it; (2) allow time to obtain
affidavits or declarations or to take
discovery; or (3) issue any other
appropriate order.

The Third Circuit has long interpreted this rule to require
that “a party seeking further discovery in response to a
summary judgment motion submit an affidavit specifying,
for example, what particular information is sought; how, if
uncovered, it would preclude summary judgment; and why

it has not previously been obtained.” F]Dowling v. City of
Philadelphia, 855 F.2d 136, 14041 (3d Cir.1988). Vague
or general statements of what a party hopes to gain through
a delay for discovery under Rule 56(d) are insufficient.

F:lHancock Indus. v. Schaeffer, 811 F.2d 225, 230 (3d
Cir.1987). However, if a party opposing summary judgment
files an affidavit that addresses these three requirements with
specificity, the Third Circuit has held that “a continuance of
a motion for summary judgment for purposes of discovery

should be granted almost as a matter of course.” F]Sames
v. Gable, 732 F.2d 49, 51 (3d Cir.1984). This is especially
true when particular information, necessary to the successful
opposition to summary judgment, is in the sole possession of
the moving party. Id.

The parties have not yet conducted any discovery in this
matter. See Reed v. Staniero, No. 06-3496, 2007 WL
3430935, at *7 (D.N.J.Nov.13,2007) (distinguishing between
cases where “further discovery is sought” and cases “where
no meaningful discovery has taken place”; in the later
Dowling is less strictly applied). And Plaintiff submitted
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an affidavit setting forth the information he will seek in
discovery, how that information would preclude summary
judgment, and why he has not previously obtained that
evidence. For instance, regarding his Section 1681(b)(3)
claim, Plaintiff will seek information regarding the particular
process actually followed by ADP and Planned Companies
when providing notices under the FCRA. And regarding
his Section 1681i(a) claim, Plaintiff will seek information
on ADP's policies, procedures, and training on identifying
consumer disputes and conducting FCRA reinvestigations of
disputed items.

An argument that Plaintiff has failed to produce evidence
supporting its claim is unconvincing where—as here—
Plaintiff has not yet been afforded the opportunity to conduct
discovery and much of the relevant evidence is in the sole
possession of the moving party. ADP's summary judgment
motion will be denied without prejudice as premature.

B. Motions to Dismiss
The Court now turns to Defendants' motions to dismiss.
The Court finds that Count Two adequately alleges a FCRA
claim against Planned Companies and will deny Planned
Companies' motion. However, Count Four does not allege a
CFA claim against ADP. The Court will thus grant ADP's
motion and dismiss Count Four with prejudice.

i. Planned Companies Motion to Dismiss Count Two
*5 Count Two asserts a claim against Planned Companies
under FCRA Section 1681(b)(3),
Companies alleged failure to provide Plaintiff with the Pre—

based on Planned

Adverse Action Notice before taking an adverse action
against him. Planned Companies first argues that the Court
should dismiss Count Two, because the contract between
ADP and Planned Companies indicates that ADP did not
automatically disqualify candidates based on pre-set criteria.
The contract to which Planned Companies refers is extrinsic
to the pleadings. Further, it is not “integral to or explicitly
relied upon” in the Amended Complaint, which focuses
on the actual process followed by ADP and Planned

Companies when providing pre-adverse action notices. F:lln
re Burlington Coat Factory Sec. Litig., 114 F.3d 1410, 1426
(3d Cir.1997) (quotations omitted) (emphasis in original). The
Court will not consider it in this procedural context.

Planned Companies next argues that even if ADP did
adjudicate Plaintiff's candidacy, Plaintiff has not alleged that

Planned Companies took any adverse action against Plaintiff
prior to sending the Pre-Adverse Action Notice. The Court
disagrees.

FCRA F]section 1681b(b)(3) imposes obligations on any
“person” who “[uses] a consumer report for employment

purposes.” F:IIS U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(3)(A). Such a person,

before taking any adverse action based in whole or in part
on the report, ... shall provide to the consumer to whom the
report relates-

(i) a copy of the report; and

(ii) a description in writing of the rights of the consumer
under this subchapter, as prescribed by the Bureau under
section 1681g(c)(3) of this title.

Id. “The clear purpose of this section is to afford employees
time to discuss reports with employers or otherwise respond

before adverse action is taken.” FjGoode v. LexisNexis
Risk & Info. Analytics Grp., Inc., 848 F.Supp.2d 532, 537
(E.D.Pa.2012) (citations and quotations omitted).

The denial of employment is an adverse action under

the FCRA. F:|15 U.S.C. § 1681la(k)(1)(B)(ii). Adverse
employment action under the FCRA “occurs when the
decision is carried out, when it is communicated or actually

takes effect....” F:l Goode, 848 F.Supp.2d at 540.

In support of its motion, Planned Companies relies heavily
on a decision from the Eastern District of Pennsylvania

—F]Moore v. Rite Aid Hdgtrs Corp., 33 F.Supp.3d 569
(E.D.Pa.2014). In Moore, the plaintiff argued that “Rite
Aid's employment decision actually took effect upon the
completion of a LexisNexis adjudication and that the
opportunity thereafter to provide information was a mere

formality designed to satisfy F:|§ 1681b(b)(3).” Fjld. at574.
The court granted Rite Aid's motion to dismiss, because that
argument was not supported by allegations in the complaint.
See id. (“If such an argument was supported by the allegations
in the Complaint, and it is not, plaintiff would state a claim
upon which relief could be granted on this ground.”).

*6 Unlike Moore, here the Amended Complaint sufficiently
alleges that Planned Companies' employment decision
actually took effect upon completion of ADP's adjudication
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and that the opportunity to provide information was a mere
formality to satisfy Planned Companies' FCRA obligations.
It states “the date of the adverse employment action against
[Plaintiff] was the date that ADP created and instantly
‘adjudicated’ his application. No further discretionary action
was taken by Planned Companies after that moment.” Am.
Compl. 9§ 32. It further provides that ADP's consumer report
regarding Plaintiff is dated March, 5, 2013. Id. q 33. And
it alleges that, on March 8, 2015, Plaintiff called Planned
Companies to follow up on his application. /d. § 34. In
response, a representative told him that “his background
report contained a criminal record and that an adverse action
had already been ordered denying him employment with
Planned Companies because of the contents of the ADP
report.” Id. 4 34. Read in the light most favorable to Plaintiff,

these allegations support a claim under FCRA F]Section
1681b(b)(3) against Planned Companies. The Court will thus
deny Planned Companies' motion to dismiss Count Two.

Finally, in its motion to dismiss, Planned Companies argues
that the Court should deny class certification, because
Plaintiff is not a member of the class he seeks to represent.
First, no class certification motion is currently pending
before this Court. Further, this action is not a “rare
case[ | where the complaint itself demonstrates that the
requirements for maintaining a class action cannot be met.”

F:IClark v. McDonald's Corp., 213 FR.D. 198, 205 n. 3

(D.N.J.2003) (citing F]Miller v. Motorola, Inc., 76 F.R.D.
516 (N.D.I11.1977). Planned Companies' argument is thus
premature, and the Court will not consider it at this time.
Planned Companies may renew this argument following
discovery.

ii. ADP's Motion to Dismiss Count Four

In Count Four, Plaintiff asserts a claim against ADP under the
CFA for knowingly failing to provide complete information
in its consumer report regarding Plaintiff. Am. Compl. § 9.
ADP argues that the FCRA preempts this state law claim and,
alternatively, that Plaintiff is not a “consumer” under the CFA.
Because the Court finds that Plaintiff is not a “consumer”
under the CFA, the Court need not reach ADP's preemption
argument.

The CFA prohibits the use of unconscionable commercial
practices or fraud “in connection with the sale” of

merchandise or real estate. F:IN.J . Stat. Ann. § 56:8-2. To
state a CFA claim, a plaintiff must show three things: “1)
unlawful conduct by defendant; 2) an ascertainable loss by
plaintiff; and 3) a causal relationship between the unlawful

conduct and the ascertainable loss .” F:IBosland v. Warnock
Dodge, Inc., 197 N.J. 543, 964 A.2d 741, 749 (N.J.2009). A
plaintiff must also show that he is a “consumer” and that he

purchased “merchandise.” F:l Viking Yacht Co. v. Composites
One LLC, 496 F.Supp.2d 462, 473 (D.N.J.2007).

*7 Plaintiff's CFA claim fails because he did not purchase

anything from ADP. See FjHuertas v. Galaxy Asset Mgmt.,
641 F.3d 28, 35 (3d Cir.2011) ( “[Plaintiff] has failed to state
a claim under the NJCFA because his complaint is not based
on [defendants'] marketing or sale of merchandise or services
to him.”); Boyko v. Am. Int'l Grp., Inc., No. 08-2214, 2009
WL 5194431, at *3 (D.N.J. Dec.23, 2009) (dismissing a CFA
claim because the plaintiff did not buy anything from the
defendant). The allegation that Planned Companies bought
an inaccurate consumer report concerning Plaintiff from ADP
does not provide Plaintiff with a cause of action against ADP
under the CFA. Thus, the Court will dismiss Count Four.
Further, because the Court finds that amendment of Count
Four would be futile, the Court will dismiss Count Four with
prejudice.

IV. CONCLUSION
For the above reasons, ADP's motion for summary judgment
is DENIED, ADP's motion to dismiss is GRANTED, and
Count Four is DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE. Further,
Planned Companies' motion to dismiss is DENIED. An
appropriate order follows.

All Citations

Not Reported in F.Supp.3d, 2015 WL 1867041
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HERITAGE AT INDEPENDENCE,
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The STATE of New Jersey, The New Jersey
Department of Environmental Protection, The
New Jersey Highlands Water Protection and
Planning Council, and The New Jersey Council

on Affordable Housing, Defendants-Respondents.
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West KeySummary

1 Declaratory Judgment é= Statutory Remedy

Real estate developer failed to exhaust
available administrative remedies before filing
its declaratory judgment action challenging
the constitutionality of the Highlands Water
Protection and Planning Act. Therefore,
developer's claim was not ripe for review.
Developer did not apply for a permit to develop
its property in protected region, so there was no
basis on which to conclude that, as developer
maintained, affordable housing could not have

been constructed on developer's property.

On appeal from the Superior Court of New Jersey, Law
Division, Warren County, Docket No. L-316-07.

Attorneys and Law Firms

Richard J. Hoff, Jr., argued the cause for appellant (Bisgaier,
Hoff, LLC, attorneys; Mr. Hoff and Carl S. Bisgaier, on the
briefs).

Barbara L. Conklin, Deputy Attorney General, argued the
cause for respondents (Paula T. Dow, Attorney General,
attorney; Nancy Kaplen, Assistant Attorney General, of
counsel; Ms. Conklin, on the brief).

Before Judges SAPP-PETERSON and

ESPINOSA.

AXELRAD,

Opinion
PER CURIAM.

*1 Plaintiff Heritage at Independence, LLC (“Heritage”),
a developer who sought to construct an inclusionary
sensitive lands in

development on environmentally

the Townships of Independence and Hackettstown
(“Independence and Hackettstown”) within the Highlands
Preservation Area, appeals from summary judgment
dismissing seven of the eleven counts of its amended
complaint in lieu of prerogative writs against the State
of New lJersey (“State”), the New Jersey Department
of Environmental Protection (“DEP”), the New Jersey
Highlands Water
(“Highlands Council”) and the New Jersey Council on
Affordable Housing (“COAH”) (collectively “defendants”).
Heritage had sought a judgment declaring the Highlands
Water Protection and Planning Act (“Highlands Act”),
N.J.S.A. 13:20-1 to -35, unconstitutional, both facially

and as-applied to its property, an order barring the State

Protection and Planning Council

from regulating Heritage's proposed development in the
Preservation Area of the Highlands region (“Highlands”),
and a builder's remedy to allow construction of its proposed
development. We affirm.

L.

We briefly provide some statutory and regulatory background
to place this litigation into context. The Highlands Act was
enacted on August 10, 2004. In doing so, the Legislature
recognized that the Highlands is an essential source of
drinking water for half the population of New Jersey and
“contains other exceptional natural resources such as clean
air, contiguous forest lands, wetlands, pristine watersheds,
and habitat for flora and fauna,” as well as sites of historic
significance and recreational opportunities. NV.J.S.4. 13:20-2.
As the Legislature determined, the then-existing land use
and environmental regulation system could not protect the
resources from the impact of unplanned land development
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and sprawl often resulting from the “uncoordinated land use
decisions of 88 municipalities, seven counties, and a myriad
of private landowners,” so it established a regional approach
to planning land use in the Highlands. /bid. The legislation
created the Highlands Council with responsibility for land
use planning in the region, N.J.S.4. 13:20-4, including the
obligation to adopt, in consultation with other state agencies
such as the DEP, a regional master plan (“RMP”). N.J.S.A.
13:20-2, -6i, -8. The Highlands Council adopted a final RMP
by Resolution 2008-27 on July 17, 2008, which became
effective on September 8, 2008. 40 N.J.R. 5852 (Oct. 6,

2008). !

Additionally, on July 17, 2008, the Fair Housing Act
(“FHA”) was amended to authorize regional planning
entities, such as the Highlands Council, to identify and
coordinate opportunities for affordable housing on a

regional basis. N.J.S.A. 52:27D-329.9. On September
5, 2008, Governor Corzine signed Executive Order
No. 114 (“EO114”)Executive Order No. 114 (“EO114”)
directing the Highlands Council, COAH and the DEP to
coordinate their efforts with respect to affordable housing
in the Highlands, and, in part, requiring COAH and
the Highlands Council to enter into a Memorandum of
Understanding (“MOU”) to coordinate procedures and
maximize affordable housing opportunity in the Highlands
while preserving its critical environmental resources. On
October 30, 2008, the two agencies entered into an MOU to
effectuate EO114. http://www.state.nj.u s/dca/affiliates/coah/
regulations/highlands/mou.pdf.

*2 About ten years earlier, on or about October 17, 1998,
Independence received substantive certification from COAH
for its first round housing obligations for the 1987 to
1993 period. On or about February 20, 2004, Independence
petitioned COAH for substantive certification of its second
round compliance plan, covering housing obligations from
1993 to 1999, which included, in part, Heritage's proposed
inclusionary development. However, following the enactment
of the Highlands Act, COAH staff questioned the feasibility
of Heritage's inclusionary development and two other

inclusionary sites in the Preservation Area. 2 On December
16, 2005, Independence submitted its third round compliance
plan, seeking vacant land and other adjustments to its
fair share obligation, claiming that by virtue of the
Highlands Act, it has “no lands available with any realistic
development opportunity for inclusionary housing zoning.”

See FN.J.A.C. 5:97-5.2.

The Highlands Act also delegated responsibility to the DEP to
establish a Highlands permitting review program for all major
development in the Preservation Area, N.J.S.A. 13:20-31
to -35, including the authority to provide for a waiver of
any of the Highland Act's provisions, on a case-by-case
basis, where adherence would: (1) imperil public health
and safety; (2) interfere with redevelopment in previously
developed areas; or (3) cause a “taking of property without
just compensation.” N.J.S.4. 13:20-33b(1)-(3). The DEP

adopted the implementing regulation, N.J.4.C. 7:38-6.8. 3

IL

Heritage owns approximately 113 acres of undeveloped,
primarily forested land in Independence and Hackettstown
in Warren County, located within the Preservation Area of

the Highlands region. 4 Heritage proposed to develop 46.48
acres of its property, largely in Independence (Block 4,
Lots 28-29), with a small portion in Hackettstown (Block
136, Lot 26). The proposed development consists of 15
buildings, comprised of 104 age-restricted dwelling units
and 14 units of affordable housing. The lands adjacent
to Heritage's property in Independence along Overlook
Drive are developed with residential uses and the lands in
Hackettstown immediately adjacent to Heritage's property
along Hamilton and Countryside Drives are fully developed
with residential, commercial and retail uses.

On September 18, 2006, the Independence Planning Board
(“Board”) declared complete the application for major site
plan approval submitted by Heritage's predecessor-in-title,
K-Land Corp., to construct the 118-unit residential project.
On May 21, 2007, the Board granted K-Land's application,
including variance and waiver requests, subject to the
condition, in part, that it obtain “approval, exemption or
other form of acceptance” from either or both the Highlands
Council and DEP and obtain public water and sewer
service from the Hackettstown Municipal Utilities Authority
(“HMUA”) to adequately serve the proposed development.
The Resolution noted the site contains the Bower's Brook, a
tributary of the Musconetcong River, which is classified as a

Category One waterway, > as well as freshwater wetlands and
steep slopes.

*3  Hackettstown and designated surrounding areas,
including Heritage's property, are serviced by the HMUA
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for public sewer and water. The Highlands Act, however,
revoked all sewer and water services to any property within
the Preservation Area that, like Heritage's, did not have
a waste water collection system installed by August 10,
2004, along with associated treatment works approvals,
unless the development was exempt from the permitting

requirements of the Highlands Act. I~ N.J.S.4. 13:20-28;
N.J.S.A. 58:11A-7.1. The Highlands Act similarly prohibited
the extension of water service to new developments in the

Preservation Area unless exempt. I — N.J.S.4. 13:20-28, -32i;
N.J.S.A. 58:12A-4.1. Because Heritage did not have a water
or sewer collection system installed on its property by the
designated date and was not exempt from the permitting
requirements, the HMUA excluded Heritage's property from
its water and sewer service.

It is undisputed that Heritage's site is not exempt from the

N.J.S.A.

13:20-28.° At the time of the litigation, Heritage had not
applied to DEP for a Highlands permit, N.J.S.4. 13:20-30, or
a permit waiver, N.J.S.4. 13:20-33b; N.J.A.C. 7:38-6.8.

permitting requirements of the Highlands Act.

III.

In July 2007, Heritage filed a nine-count complaint in lieu
of prerogative writs against defendants, and an amended
complaint with two additional counts. Pertinent to this
appeal, count one alleged the Highlands Act is facially
unconstitutional due to the Legislature's failure to plan for the
production of any affordable housing in the Highlands prior
to the Highlands Act's promulgation; count two asserted an

as-applied challenge to the Highlands Act on Mount Laurel 7
grounds; counts three and four asserted a facial challenge and
as-applied challenge to the Highlands Act, respectively, based
on the use of municipal boundaries to delineate Planning
and Preservation Areas; count six asserted a facial and as-
applied challenge to the Highlands Act based upon alleged
discrimination in access to Highlands water supplies; count
seven asserted a facial and as-applied challenge alleging lack
of a variance to “opt-out” of the Preservation Area; and count
nine alleged a taking of property without just compensation.

Defendants filed a motion pursuant to Rule 4:6-2(e) to dismiss
the amended complaint for failure to state a claim upon which
relief may be granted. The trial court converted the motion to a
motion for summary judgment. Heritage filed opposition and

cross-moved for partial summary judgment on counts one,
seven, eight, ten and eleven. Defendants filed opposition.

The court heard oral argument on November 18, 2008.
In a comprehensive oral opinion on November 21, 2008,
memorialized in an order of April 15, 2009, Judge Allison
Accurso rejected Heritage's challenges to the Highlands Act,
denied its motion for partial summary judgment and entered
summary judgment in favor of defendants, dismissing the
complaint. Specifically, in connection with count one, the
judge noted that:

*4 None of the prior legislative
enactments that regulate land use
within a region, under a regional
authority such as the Meadowlands

Act in 1969,[[®] CAFRA in
1973,[ 1 and the Pinelands Act

in 1979,[[10] do what Heritage
contends is required here: that is,
be preceded by the preparation of
the equivalent of a housing element
and include a directive in the Act
itself that any administering agency
undertake
implementing the Act, and none has

such analysis prior to

ever been considered unconstitutional
under Mount Laurel.

The judge dismissed as unripe Heritage's as-applied Mount
Laurel challenge (count two), its as-applied equal protection
challenge that the Highlands Act discriminates arbitrarily
against housing in favor of agriculture (count six), and its
taking claim (count nine) because Heritage had not applied
for a Highlands permit or permit waiver, COAH had not
re-evaluated Independence's fair share of affordable housing
in light of the RMP, and Independence had not devised a
compliant affordable housing plan. The judge also rejected
the facial and as-applied challenges of counts three and
four, concluding that “the use of municipal boundaries to
delineate the Highlands Region and its preservation and
planning areas cannot be said to promote the State's interest
in protecting an environmentally vital area of the [s]tate by
impermissible or irrational means” and, citing OFP, LLC v.
State, 395 N.J.Super. 571,596,930 A.2d 442 (App.Div.2007),
aff'd 0.b.,197 N.J. 418, 963 A.2d 810 (2008), that the
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inclusion of Heritage's property within the Preservation Area
was not arbitrary because “zoning lines need not be drawn
with mathematical precision to scientific standards.” Judge
Accurso also held that the permit waiver provision, N.J.S.A4 .
13:20-33b, “would appear to function as a variance process
sufficient to satisfy the due process challenge” of count seven.
This appeal ensued.

IV.
On appeal, Heritage presents the following arguments:

I. THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION TO DISMISS
COUNT 3 AND COUNT 4 OF PLAINTIFF'S
AMENDED COMPLAINT WAS IN ERR[OR] AS
FACTUAL QUESTIONS EXIST AS TO WHETHER
THE DEMARCATION OF THE HIGHLANDS REGION
WAS ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS.

II. IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS
TO COUNT SEVEN OF PLAINTIFF'S AMENDED
COMPLAINT, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AS THE
ACT'S FAILURE TO INCORPORATE OR PROVIDE
FOR ANY REASONABLE VARIANCE/AND WAIVER
PROCEDURE VIOLATES THE CONSTITUTIONAL
PROTECTIONS THAT SHOULD BE AFFORDED IN
ANY ZONING SCHEME.

III. THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION TO GRANT THE
STATE'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON
COUNT ONE WAS IN ERR[OR] AND SHOULD BE
REVERSED BY THIS COURT BECAUSE THE ACT IS
FACIALLY INVALID UNDER THE MOUNT LAUREL
DOCTRINE.

A. The Mount Laurel Doctrine Applies Directly to The
State Through Its Promulgation of the Act.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING
COUNT TWO OF THE AMENDED COMPLAINT
BECAUSE REQUIRING PLAINTIFF TO ESTABLISH
ITS ENTITLEMENT TO CONSTRUCT AFFORDABLE
HOUSING IS THE ANTITHESIS OF THE MOUNT
LAUREL DOCTRINE AND SHOULD NOT BE
ACCEPTED BY THIS COURT.

*5 A. Even Assuming the Act's Framework of
Affordable Housing “By Exception” Were Constitutionally
Permissible, the Act's Failure to Allow for any Variance

Procedure for Inherently Beneficial Uses Such as
Affordable Housing is Unconstitutional.

V. THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY DISMISSED
COUNTS SIX AND NINE OF PLAINTIFF'S
COMPLAINT BECAUSE THE ACT'S DISPARATE
TREATMENT OF (i) WATER USERS INSIDE AND
OUTSIDE THE HIGHLANDS AND (ii) PERMITTED
USERS WITHIN THE HIGHLANDS IS VIOLAT [IVE]
OF EQUAL PROTECTION GUARANTEES AND IS
OTHERWISE ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS.

When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, we employ
the same legal standards used by the motion judge. Spring
Creek Holding Co. v. Shinnihon U.S.A. Co., 399 N.J.Super.
158, 180,943 A.2d 881 (App.Div.), certif. denied, 196 N.J. 85,

951 A.2d 1038 (2008); F]Prudenlial Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co.
v. Boylan, 307 N.J.Super. 162, 167,704 A.2d 597 (App.Div.),
certif. denied, 154 N.J. 608, 713 A.2d 499 (1998). First, we
determine whether the moving party has demonstrated that
there were no genuine disputes as to material facts, and then
we decide whether the motion judge's application of the law

was correct. F:lAtlamic Mut. Ins. Co. v. Hillside Bottling Co.,
Inc., 387 N.J.Super. 224, 230-31, 903 A.2d 513 (App.Div.),
certif. denied,189 N.J. 104, 912 A.2d 1264 (2006). In so
doing, we view the evidence in the light most favorable to the
non-moving party and analyze whether the moving party was

entitled to judgment as a matter of law. F]Brill v. Guardian
Life Ins. Co. of Am., 142 N.J. 520, 523, 529, 666 A.2d
146 (1995). We accord no deference to the motion judge's

conclusions on issues of law, F:IManalapan Realty, L.P, v.
Twp. Comm. of Manalapan, 140 N.J. 366,378,658 A.2d 1230
(1995), which we review de novo. Spring Creek, supra, 399
N.J.Super. at 180, 943 A.2d 881;Dep't of Envtl. Prot. v. Kafil,
395 N.J.Super. 597, 601, 930 A.2d 457 (App.Div.2007).

We initially note it is well-settled that a “presumption of
validity attaches to every statute.” In re C.V.S. Pharmacy
Wayne, 116 N.J. 490, 497, 561 A.2d 1160 (1989), cert.
denied, 493 U.S. 1045,110 S.Ct. 841,107 L. Ed.2d 836 (1990).
As a general matter, courts will presume the Legislature acted
with a constitutional law in mind and intended the statute to
function in a constitutional manner, and the heavy burden to

prove otherwise rests on the challenger. F:IState v. One 1990
Honda Accord, 154 N.J. 373, 377, 712 A.2d 1148 (1998);
State v. Profaci, 56 N.J. 346, 349, 266 A.2d 579 (1970).
Moreover, we are obligated to construe a challenged statute to
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avoid constitutional defects if it is “reasonably susceptible of

such construction.” F:IN.J. Bd. of Higher Educ. v. Bd. of Dirs.
of Shelton College, 90 N.J. 470, 478, 448 A.2d 988 (1982)
(citation and quotation marks omitted).

Based on our independent review of the record and applicable
law, we do not find any of Heritage's challenges to be
persuasive. We are satisfied Heritage failed to rebut the
presumption of validity attaching to the Highlands Act.
We affirm the summary judgment dismissing Heritage's
complaint substantially for the reasons articulated by Judge
Accurso in her cogent and articulate bench opinion, which
followed a lengthy colloquy with counsel during oral
argument. We add the following comments.

*6 We will address the counts in order, beginning with
Point III pertaining to count one, which alleges the Highlands
Act was facially unconstitutional by virtue of its omission
of provisions that affirmatively address affordable housing.
More specifically, Heritage's position is that the Legislature
was constitutionally required to plan for affordable housing
before it adopted the Highlands Act, in the same manner
that the FHA obligates local governments to adopt housing
elements as part of their master plans, i.e., adopt an FHA-
type housing element and fair share plan prior to imposing
regional planning on Highlands development and tasking
the Highlands Council with developing an RMP. According
to Heritage, the Highlands Act is unconstitutional because
it “strips” the Highlands municipalities of the power to
address affordable housing, while imposing environmental
restrictions that will obstruct the provision of affordable
housing in the Preservation Area, thereby zoning first and
planning second.

The judge
unsupported by case law and similar prior legislative

rejected Heritage's arguments, finding it
enactments regulating regional land use, such as the
Meadowlands Act, the Pinelands Act and CAFRA. She

stated:

The Highlands Act is not the first time the Legislature has
created a State agency to which it has delegated land use
planning in a region of the State.

The Highlands Act is the fourth such statute in the last 40
years, none of which were preceded by the preparation of
the equivalent of a housing element or included a directive
in the Act itself that any administering agency undertake
such analysis prior to implementing it.

[The Legislature's actions are] fundamentally unlike a
township committee charged with adopting a zoning
ordinance. Unlike a township committee, the Legislature is
free to entrust performance of a particular public purpose
or project to an agency it creates....

The Legislature can identify a problem, make findings, set
[a] direction for its solution and delegate the details to an
agency it creates....

The judge further noted the Legislature had shared “[t]he
expertise and planning [ ] necessary for the protection and
future development of the Highlands” among the Highlands

Council, the DEP and COAH. !

The Mount Laurel cases expressly recognize the importance
of balancing the competing interests of preservation and

development. See F]Moum‘ Laurel 1, supra, 67 N.J. at 186,
336 A.2d 713 (noting the Court's decision should not be
read to “say that land use regulations should not take due
account of ecological or environmental factors or problems”);

FjMount Laurel II, supra, 92 N.J. at 219, 456 A.2d 390
(reassuring that Mount Laurel is not designed to “sweep away
all land use restrictions” and “[m]unicipalities consisting
largely of conservation, agricultural, or environmentally
sensitive areas will not be required to grow because of Mount
Laurel.”).

We are satisfied the Highlands Act facially recognizes the
Mount Laurel principles and provides an opportunity for the
affordable housing needs of a municipality to be met while
preserving environmentally sensitive areas. The Highlands
Act does not, as Heritage suggests, represent a legislative
decision to sacrifice one interest at the expense of another.
Rather, it is evident the Legislature intended the Highlands
Act to work in tandem with the existing regulatory scheme

in the Highlands, including the FHA. See F]Brewer V.
Porch, 53 N.J. 167, 173, 174, 249 A.2d 388 (1969) (holding
the Legislature is presumed to be conversant with its own
enactments and “implied repealers are not favored in the
law™).

*7  The
responsibility to address the concerns identified in the
Highlands Act pertaining to both housing and conservation

Legislature  appropriately  delegated the

to a variety of agencies in accordance with their respective
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areas of expertise. See N.J. Sports & Exposition Auth. v.
McCrane, 61 N.J. 1, 14, 292 A.2d 545 (1972) (holding
the “State does not have to serve or perform personally
all its governmental functions or public purposes [as]
[plerformance of a particular public purpose or project may
be entrusted under proper guidelines to an independent
autonomous authority or agency”). For example, N.J.S.A4.
13:20-23 directs COAH to consider the RMP in allocating
fair share obligations among the municipalities in the
Highlands region. The Highlands Act also exempts from
Highlands permit requirements major Highlands inclusionary
developments located in a Metropolitan or Suburban Planning
Area as designated by the State Planning Commission, which
developments were resolved by litigation as of March 29,
2004. N.J.S.A. 13:20-28a(17).

Contrary to Heritage's assertions, the Highlands Act does not
establish a land use system in which “housing opportunities
are foreclosed by virtue of overzealous environmental
considerations.” The Highlands Act and its regulations
expressly provide the remedy of applying for a hardship
waiver application from the DEP on a case-by-case basis. The
remedy is available to any major Highlands development in
the Preservation Area, such as the inclusionary development
13:20-33; N.J.A.C.
7:38-6.8. Heritage, however, chose not to avail itself of

proposed by Heritage. See N.J.S.A.

that remedy. Furthermore, the Legislature's 2008 amendment

of the FHA, F:IN.JS.A 52:27D-329.9, and Governor
Corzine's coordinated action plan for addressing land use
in the Highlands, evidence an intent to balance and further
those conflicting interests within an area of undisputed
environmental importance.

We turn now to Point IV, pertaining to count two, Heritage's
as-applied challenge to the Highlands Act on Mount Laurel
grounds. Heritage urges that its proposed development
was included within Independence's compliance plan and
provides necessary housing, the site physically has access to
public water and sewer and is suitable for an inclusionary
development under all COAH criteria, and contends the only
reason it cannot be developed as planned is its inclusion in the
Highlands Preservation Area.

As conceded by Heritage, the judge accepted these facts
for purpose of the motion. However, the judge found the
claim was not ripe for review because Heritage had not
created an administrative record, specifically: 1) Heritage
had not applied for a DEP permit pursuant to the Highlands
Act's waiver procedure; 2) COAH had not yet recalculated

Independence's fair share in light of the RMP; 3) the
Highlands Council had not yet devised a regional plan
in accordance with the 2008 FHA amendments; and 4)
Independence had not developed a housing plan. Judge
Accurso concluded:

*8 Were DEP to grant a permit
or permit waiver, Heritage's challenge
here would be moot. COAH's revision
of Independence's Fair Share number
in light of the RMP [or] a [municipal]
plan that increases density or provides
for redevelopment elsewhere in the
township or locates affordable housing
elsewhere in the region with COAH
approval, could likewise determine
the outcome of any challenge on
Mount Laurel grounds. These issues
are properly presented [to the] DEP,
Highlands Council and COAH in the
first instance.

We agree. There is no basis to conclude that affordable
housing cannot be constructed on Heritage's property as the
property owner has not yet applied for a Highlands permit or

permit waiver. See F]Abbott v. Burke, 100 N.J. 269, 299, 495
A.2d 376 (1985) (holding that even when a case implicates
constitutional issues, a court may require a party to exhaust
its administrative remedies, when doing so “will serve to
develop a fully informed factual record and maximize the
soundness of determinations through the agency's expertise”);
OFP, supra, 395 N.J.Super. at 585, 930 A.2d 442 (concluding
the trial court correctly declined to address the property
owner's taking claim because it “failed to avail itself of
the administrative remedy of a hardship waiver application

under N.J.A.C. 7:38-6.8”); F:IK. Hovnanian Cos. of N. Cent.
Jersey, Inc. v. Dep't of Envtl. Prot., 379 N.J.Super. 1, 9,
876 A.2d 847 (App.Div.) (In affirming the dismissal of the
developer's complaint challenging the constitutionality of the
New Jersey Water Pollution Control Act for failure to exhaust
administrative remedies, the court “reject [ed] the contention
that the administrative remedy may be avoided simply by
adding Mount Laurel arguments or constitutional contentions
to the complaint.”), certif. denied, 185 N.J. 390 (2005).
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Heritage has a variety of forums in which to vindicate its
interests because there are a number of agencies having
jurisdiction over the region and Heritage's proposed project.
Most obviously, Heritage can seek a permit waiver from DEP
pursuant to N.J.A.C. 7:38-6.8, which, if granted, resolves
the matter and, if denied, provides the court with a record
for review. Heritage cannot justify its failure to submit an
application for a hardship waiver “on the ground that the
requirements of this regulation are unreasonably onerous,
[since] it did not file an appeal challenging the validity of
this administrative regulation, as it could have done.” OFP,
supra, 395 N.J.Super. at 586, 930 A.2d 442. Heritage can also
employ the objection process set forth in COAH's regulations,

FN.J.A. C. 5:96-4.1, if it determines Independence's housing
element and fair share plan fail to maximize available lands.

In Point I, addressing counts three and four, Heritage
asserts facial and as-applied challenges to the Highlands
Act, arguing: (1) the boundaries set forth in N.J.S.A.
13:20-7 were not based on scientific standards or narrowly
drawn to achieve the objectives of the Highlands Act,
are arbitrary and capricious on their face and violate the
principles of due process and equal protection because they
follow municipal boundaries rather than delineating the
environmental resources the Highlands Act was intended to
protect, and (2) inclusion of its property in the Preservation
Area is arbitrary and capricious.

*9 The court dismissed plaintiff's facial attack, reasoning
that the mere fact the Legislature did not previously
utilize municipal boundaries in related statutes regulating
development of land was an insufficient basis to conclude the
use of such boundaries is irrational. We agree.

The Highlands Act does not implicate a suspect class or

fundamental right. See FjeGardner v. N.J. Pinelands
Comm'n, 125 N .J. 193, 211-12, 593 A.2d 251 (199]).
Accordingly, we must uphold the constitutionality of the
statute “so long as it bears a rational relation to some
legitimate end.” Brown v. Twp. of Old Bridge, 319 N.J.Super.
476, 505, 725 A.2d 1154 (App.Div.1999) (citations and
quotation marks omitted). The Highlands Act is susceptible
to equal protection infirmity “only if the classification rests
on grounds wholly irrelevant to the achievement of the State's
objective.” Id. at 506, 725 A.2d 1154 (citations and quotation
marks omitted). See also Brown v. City of Newark, 113
N.J. 565, 573, 552 A.2d 125 (1989). The Highlands Act
withstands a substantive due process challenge as long as it is

supported by any conceivable rational basis. F:l Greenberg v.
Kimmelman, 99 N.J. 552, 567, 494 A.2d 294 (1985).

We are satisfied the Highlands boundaries utilized by the
Legislature, which include state and local roads, railroad
right-of-ways, streams, reservoirs, wildlife management areas
and metes and bounds descriptions, as well as town
boundaries, are a rational basis for environmental planning of
the type envisioned by the Highlands Act. N.J.S.4. 13:20-7.
We further note that the Legislature consulted natural resource
data from a number of external sources to define the regulated
area, and specifically amended the final bill to describe
the region, not only in terms of municipal boundaries, but
other “on-the-ground” reference points. Senate Env't Comm.,
Statement to S. 1, supra, at 2.

Judge Accurso also properly rejected Heritage's as-applied
challenge, relying on OFP. In that case the developer disputed
the propriety of the Preservation Area boundaries and claimed
the limitations on its property would not further the Highlands
Act's stated purpose of preserving clean water. OFP, supra,
395 N.J.Super. at 595, 930 A.2d 442. Judge Skillman
responded:

The stated purposes of the Act are not limited to
preserving clean drinking water. The Act's purposes also
include protection of the “natural resources of the New
Jersey Highlands against the environmental impacts of
sprawl development[,] ... [discouragement of] piecemeal,
scattered and inappropriate development, in order to
accommodate local and regional growth and economic
development in an orderly way ... [and] maintenance
of agricultural production and a positive agricultural
business climate[.]” Consequently, even if it could be
shown that a limitation of development of OFP's property
would not serve to preserve clean drinking water, such a
limitation still could further the other stated purposes of
the Act. Moreover, the Legislature was not required to
consider the condition of each individual property within
the [P]reservation [A]rea in establishing its boundaries,
because such boundaries are not required to “be formulated
with mathematical perfection.”

*10 [/d. at 595-96, 930 A.2d 442 (internal citations
omitted, alterations in original).]

We applied this same reasoning in County of Warren v.
State, 409 N.J.Super. 495,515,978 A.2d 312 (App.Div.2009),
certif. denied,201 N.J. 153, 988 A.2d 1176 (2010), to defeat
another complaint that the Highlands Act's establishment
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of the preservation zone was without scientific support,
commenting: “The Legislature drew boundaries relating
to the Highlands Act's overall goals for water and
natural resource protection in the Highlands area, and any
imprecision in creating those boundaries is not for the courts
to second-guess.” Heritage's arguments on appeal do not
establish a basis for departing from this line of cases.

Heritage's reliance on F]Pheasant Bridge Corp. v. Township
of Warren, 169 N.J. 282, 777 A.2d 334 (2001), cert.
denied,535 U.S. 1077, 122 S.Ct. 1959, 152 L. Ed.2d 1020
(2002) is unavailing. In that case, the Court struck down a
zoning ordinance because it failed “to accomplish its purposes
when applied to plaintiff's property[,]” finding the “means-

end relationship [was] illusory.” F:I[d. at 294,F:I777 A.2d
334. That case is inapposite. As Judge Accurso observed,
there is no dispute that Heritage's site has the environmental
features the Highlands Act seeks to protect, such as a Cl
waterway and steep slopes. Accordingly, here there is a
rational nexus between the Highlands Act's restrictions and
its application to Heritage's land.

Heritage's arguments in Point V, pertaining to counts six
and nine, are clearly without merit and only require brief
discussion. R. 2:11-3(e)(1)(E). In count six of its amended
complaint, Heritage alleged the Highlands Act improperly
favors agricultural uses over non-agricultural uses and the
distinction drawn between the two is unjustifiable when the
affordable housing use is inherently beneficial and potentially
less harmful to the environment than the favored use. In count
nine, Heritage claimed the Highlands Act “effects a taking”
for the benefit of the State population that is served by the
Highlands water and “disproportionately targets [p]laintiff
and others similarly situated to pay for a public benefit.”

The court appropriately rejected these arguments based on
Heritage's failure to exhaust administrative remedies. As
Judge Accurso recognized, Heritage was not entitled to a
hearing in the trial court, or review by us, as to whether “some
theoretical farm couldn't be more harmful to the environment
and the aquifer than [Heritage's] proposed inclusionary
development.” She was further justified in dismissing the
taking count in reliance on OFP, supra, 395 N.J.Super. at
582-85,930 A.2d 442, which expressly held that such a claim
could not be entertained by the court in the absence of an

application for a hardship waiver under N.J.A.C. 7:38-6.8.
There, Judge Skillman stated:

We recognize that the DEP could administer N.J.A.C.
7:38-6.8 in a manner that fails to give property owners
such as OFP the hardship relief required “to avoid the
taking of property without just compensation.” N.J.S.A.
13:20-33(b)(3). However, we cannot just assume that the
DEP will default in this statutory responsibility. Instead,
the DEP must be allowed to “arrive[ ] at a final, definitive
position regarding how it will apply” N.J.A.C . 7:38-6.8
to the property owned by OFP and others before the
courts can determine whether a regulatory taking has

occurred. F Williamson [County Reg'l Planning Comm'n
v. Hamilton Bank of Johnson City,] 473 U.S. [172,] 191,
105 S.Ct. [3108,] 3119, 87 L. Ed.2d [126,] 141 [ (1985) ].

*11 [OFP, supra, 395 N.J.Super. at 590, 930 A.2d 442.]

Lastly, we reject Heritage's argument in Point II, pertaining
to count seven, that the Highlands Act is facially and as-
applied unconstitutional because no variance is available
to “address any potential errors in the boundaries of the
region” and allow a property owner to “opt-out” of the
Preservation Area. As recognized by Judge Accurso, the
procedural remedies of N.J.S.4. 13:20-33b and N.J.A.C.
7:38-6.8 “function as a variance process sufficient to survive
a due process challenge.” Contrary to Heritage's assertion,
the hardship waiver provision establishes a sufficient means
to prevent undue interference with a property owner's rights.
N.J.A.C. 7:36-6.8 contains a litany of factors to be considered
by the DEP, on a case-by-case basis, to determine waiver
relief. Heritage fails to explain why these provisions could
not provide recourse in circumstances where, like here, the
property owner contends the environmental restrictions do
not further the aims of the Highlands Act. Indeed, as we
noted in OFP, supra, 395 N.J.Super. at 596, 930 A.2d 442, “if
stringent limitations on development [of the subject] property
are not required to serve any of the Highland Act's purposes,
this would be an appropriate consideration in reviewing an
application for a hardship waiver.”

Affirmed.
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